

# Working with people who perpetrate domestic violence and abuse in families Summary report

Dartington Trust

www.researchinpractice.org.uk

# Contents

Introduction	3
Purpose, aims and limitations of this report	4
Definition of terms	4
Acronyms	5
Understanding DVA and the implications for intervention	5
Differentiated understandings of intimate partner violence: typologies	6
An overview of programmes and interventions for perpetrators of DVA	9
Community-based responses to perpetrators of DVA	13
Interventions in health settings	17
Motivation for engagement and behaviour change	19
DVA perpetrator work through an intersectional lens	21
Children's social care responses to people who perpetrate DVA in families	24
Whole family practice approaches for work with people who perpetrate DVA	27
Measuring outcomes	31
Conclusion	33
Bibliography	34

# 1. Introduction

Domestic violence and abuse (DVA) is a global public health concern, a social justice issue and a human rights violation with significant implications for (physical and mental) health, wellbeing and social and economic participation (WHO, 2019). Statistics from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) indicate that 1.6 million women (aged 16 to 74), and 757,000 men (aged 16 to 74) reported experiencing some form of DVA during the year ending March 2020 in England and Wales (ONS, 2020). The Children's Commissioner in England reported that 830,000 children experienced DVA in their own homes (Children's Commissioner, 2020). Until relatively recently, greater emphasis has been understandably placed on victim-survivor intervention with less attention on addressing those that harm. This has diminished the accountability attributed to perpetrators of DVA and contributed to a tendency to victim-blame, which has become particularly pronounced in children's social care and private law family court settings (Coy et al., 2015; Ministry of Justice, 2020; Neale, 2018; SafeLives & Domestic Abuse Commissioner, 2021).

Research documenting the benefits and importance of directly engaging people who perpetrate DVA in order to change their behaviour, as well as to prevent DVA, first emerged at least three decades ago (see for example, Dobash & Dobash, 2000; Gamache et al., 1988; Gondolf, 1987b, 1987a, 1997; Pence et al., 1993; Shepard, 1999; Shepard et al., 2002). But there remains a lack of consensus around perpetrator intervention efficacy (Akoensi et al., 2013; L. Hamilton et al., 2013; Kuskoff et al., 2021), particularly in terms of the outcomes for people – typically women and children, but not exclusively – who experience DVA (O'Connor et al., 2020). Differences in programme implementation and methodologies also make it difficult to conclusively talk about what works, and what does not, albeit there is evidence of promising practice using a range of models and approaches, which together underpin the Respect accredited perpetrator programmes delivered in the UK. A rapid review of existing research underscores the need to grow this existing evidence base, as well as to develop greater consistency in understanding across sector providers regarding what constitutes 'success' and efficacy when working with perpetrators of DVA.

#### The Domestic Abuse Act 2021

This report coincides with the new *Domestic Abuse Act 2021* in the UK, which occurs in a shifting policy landscape that increasingly incorporates a focus on people that harm, and is located within a growing body of literature which suggests that improved policy responses to perpetrators of abuse are necessary for DVA prevention (Kuskoff et al., 2021). The new Act sets out a statutory, gender-neutral definition of domestic abuse, which extends beyond physical violence. It makes provisions to hold perpetrators of abuse to account by strengthening legal measures including the new Domestic Abuse Protection Notice (DAPN) for the provision of immediate protection of victim-survivors, and the Domestic Abuse Protection Order (DAPO) for longer term protection; these replace previous injunctions. The DAPO imposes both prohibitions and requirements on perpetrators, including to engage with mental health support or attend a behaviour change programme (Home Office, 2021b).

The Act extends the offence of coercive and controlling behaviours, no longer requiring perpetrators and victims to be in a relationship or still co-habiting. It also recognises that children are directly affected by domestic abuse and should be recognised as victims in their own right. The Act places new duties on local authorities, including to establish a multi-agency domestic abuse local partnership board. The new legislation has introduced a statutory duty on the Secretary of State to publish a DVA perpetrator strategy, as part of the wider holistic domestic abuse strategy, due in late 2021 (Home Office, 2021a).

The purpose of this report is to provide a summarised account of a rapid literature review of empirical research and 'grey' literature, published after 2008/9<sup>1</sup>, on approaches and models for work with people who perpetrate DVA, particularly in the context of families. A key aim is to provide an overview of the existing evidence base as regards to perpetrator work. It also aims to support policy and practice change within children's social care settings, to include and engage with responses focused on addressing perpetrators of DVA, where this facilitates improved outcomes for adults and children experiencing DVA. The report discusses various types of perpetrator interventions both in the UK as well as internationally, where they have wider applicability or learning relevant to the UK context in terms of children's social care responses to perpetrators of DVA. It is based on a short, rapid literature review, therefore it does not provide an exhaustive or in-depth analysis, but rather a brief overview, with a detailed reference list for further reading.

# 3. Definitions of terms

**Children's social care (CSC):** This term is used to refer to statutory children's services only, and excludes the family court system.

**Domestic violence and abuse (DVA):** This term refers to violence and or abuse between people in intimate, family, or partner type relationships, aged 16 or over, of any sexuality, gender identity, culture, class or race. It refers to both physical and non-physical abuse and violent behaviour, including coercive control, economic abuse, harassment, physical abuse, psychological or emotional abuse, sexual abuse, and / or stalking. It refers to a single act, or a pattern of behaviours (Home Office, 2013). It is experienced in the majority of cases by women, and perpetrated by men in the majority of cases.

**'Perpetrator of DVA' and 'person that harms'**: Both terms are used interchangeably here to describe people who perpetrate domestic violence and abuse, in all its forms. The use of both terms acknowledges that the current framing of domestic abuse can be challenging for some families experiencing it, particularly when involved with the child protection system (Ferguson et al., 2020), and or when from a minoritised community.

**'Victim-survivor'**: The use of this term reflects the two categories usually used to describe people with lived experience of DVA. People who have experienced DVA may identify with one, both or neither term, therefore both are used in hyphenated form.

1 Exceptions to this date cut-off have been made in a limited number of cases in order to include key foundational texts which continue to be relevant, or where they represent historical milestones in the evolution of, or foundations for, the current evidence base.

# 4. Acronyms

CAFCASS: Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service CCR: Coordinated community response CSC: children's social care DAPP: domestic abuse perpetrator programme DHR: Domestic homicide review DVA: domestic violence and or abuse DVPP: domestic violence perpetrator programme LGBTQ+: lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer/questioning VAWG: violence against women and girls

# **5.** Understanding DVA and the implications for intervention

How DVA is defined and understood strongly informs the ways in which practice responses and interventions for perpetrators of DVA are formulated and delivered (Liz Kelly & Westmarland, 2016). Historically, DVA has been conceptualised within a feminist framework of analysis, which laid the ground work for recognition, early research and sector-wide responses aimed at tackling DVA and violence against women and girls (VAWG). The feminist focus on power and control was, and remains, a defining characteristic of DVA and continues to be key in identifying who is most at risk, or for whom the 'space for action' is more limited (Liz Kelly & Westmarland, 2016). According to this theoretical framework DVA is understood as a specifically gendered issue which pivots on the enactment of dominance and control, experienced in the majority of cases by women, and perpetrated in most cases, by men, as the statistics indicate. Gender inequality is therefore regarded as a key driver for DVA. However, as discussed in forthcoming sections, a gendered analysis alone does not provide the whole picture. As such, gender intersects with other structural inequalities and systems of oppression based on race, class, (dis)ability and sexuality which fundamentally shape how victim-survivors experience and understand DVA as well as their ability to access support and justice (Day & Gill, 2020; Imkaan & Ascent, 2016).

Women (cisgender and transgender), non-binary people and men (cisgender and transgender) can all be victim-survivors of DVA. However, aligning with a feminist analysis, it remains the case that violence and abuse perpetrated against men does not usually stem from the same structural factors which foster the conditions for violence against women, nor is it rooted in patriarchal systems of oppression. Further, an examination of the more limited literature available regarding women perpetrators of DVA indicates that women do not typically create a context of fear and coercive control, in contrast to men perpetrators of DVA (Hester, 2013). Evidence indicates that the amount, severity and impact of DVA experienced by women is also substantially higher than that of men, and women are more likely to experience coercive controlling behaviours (Hester, 2013; Myhill, 2015, 2017), repeat victimisation and serious injury (Walby & Towers, 2017). Furthermore, the presenting needs of men victim-survivors are distinct to that of women and it is important to recognise this distinction and the implications it has for service provision (Respect, 2019).

#### Gender

Gender inequality and unequal gender dynamics are widely considered key to understanding DVA. There is a substantial body of academic scholarship which suggests some men perpetrators of DVA view their violence and abuse as a 'legitimate' performance of their masculinity or as part of the 'natural' (heteronormative) gender order (see, for example, Gibbs et al., 2015; Gottzén, 2019; Hoang et al., 2013; Oddone, 2020; Peralta et al., 2010; Turhan & Bernard, 2020).

Programmes for perpetrators of DVA frequently employ a gendered lens in the development and implementation of content. This framing acknowledges the gender asymmetry in the perpetration of DVA which continues to be substantiated in data (Hamby, 2014). It also responds to the unequal gender dynamics in operation, with specific emphasis on the role of power and control in the relationship (L. Hamilton et al., 2013). A focus on gender norms, roles and expectations is particularly important when challenging the use of coercive controlling behaviours (Downes et al., 2019), and remains highly salient to the development of perpetrator programmes more generally, including those working with men who perpetrate DVA in families.

# 6. Differentiated understandings of intimate partner violence: typologies

In recent years there has been a shift away from earlier feminist conceptualisations of DVA as a singular phenomenon, in favour of a reading of intimate partner violence (IPV) as varied and therefore requiring careful distinction in order to understand how best to respond to it (Donovan & Barnes, 2019a; M. P. Johnson, 2017; Myhill, 2017; Wangmann, 2013). Work on differentiation is broad and complex, and acknowledges differentiation in experiences and perpetration of IPV. Further, people who perpetrate IPV are not a homogenous group, including in terms of their motives for the use of violence or abuse (Donovan & Barnes, 2019b; Gadd & Corr, 2017). Numerous typologies have consequently been identified, some based on individual characteristics of the perpetrator, some on the nature and characteristics of the violence, as well as a combination of these (Ali et al., 2016; Radatz & Wright, 2016; Tomison et al., 2015). A full analysis of all of these is beyond the scope of this report. However, some of the more widely recognised typologies include that of Gondolf (1988), Holtzworth-Munroe and Stuart (1994), Holtzworth-Munroe et al., (2000), Gottman and colleagues, Cavangaugh and Gelles, Johnson.

The designation of typologies acknowledges the multifaceted nature of IPV which can, according to some authors, facilitate the development of more appropriate and targeted interventions as well as better identification, more sophisticated screening and assessment of perpetrators of DVA, which together could increase protection for victim-survivors (Cavanaugh & Gelles, 2005; Donovan & Barnes, 2019a; Jaffe et al., 2008; J. B. Kelly & Johnson, 2008; Myhill, 2017; Stark, 2012). Others also argue that the identification of typologies has potential for developing more nuanced measurement of outcomes associated with interventions (Ali et al., 2016).

#### Johnson's typologies

Johnson's five typologies are arguably the most well known, particularly within social work discourse, and are underpinned by the premise that if data were to be synthesised from national surveys and community samples, the following broad types could be determined: intimate terrorism, violent resistance, situational couple violence, separation-instigated violence, and mutual violent control (M. P. Johnson, 2008; J. B. Kelly & Johnson, 2008). Situational couple violence tends to be gender symmetrical and is typically reported in representative sample surveys in the general population (Love et al., 2020). In contrast, violence used in the context of control over one's partner, takes the form of intimate terrorism, violent resistance or mutual violent control (M. P. Johnson, 2008). These forms are more severe in nature, and are typically gender asymmetrical. They also correspond more closely with feminist or 'archetypal' definitions of DVA, as set out earlier earlier (Hester, 2013). Intimate terrorism is typically perpetrated by men and is the most antithetical to the advancement of gender equality (J. B. Kelly & Johnson, 2008). Research further suggests that women may be more likely to use violent resistance against men partners, thereby suggesting women's perpetration of violence in relationships is often, but not exclusively, defensive or retaliatory (Hester, 2012, 2013).

Johnson's typologies are increasingly being used to inform (social work) practice with perpetrators of DVA (Butters et al., 2020; European Network for the Work with Perpetrators of Domestic Violence, 2019; Spencer et al., 2020; Tomison et al., 2015; Whiting et al., 2020), including those from the LGBTQ+ community (Donovan et al., 2014). Examples of programmes where Johnson's typologies have been incorporated include the HELP healthy relationships (non-accredited) programme for people on probation (Woolford & Wardhaugh, 2019), Newham's NewDAy programme (Langdon-Shreeve et al., 2020) and Doncaster's Growing Futures model (Boxford, King, et al., 2020), discussed later. Independent evaluation of programmes such as these has emphasised the value of ensuring that any new or enhanced intervention reflects different typologies of domestic abuse (Boxford, Nickson, et al., 2020).

#### Thinking beyond typologies

The use of typologies as a mechanism for working with perpetrators of DVA (and victim-survivors) is an area of ongoing debate, in part because of the substantive challenges associated with how the articulation of typologies might be translated into practice settings (Tomison et al., 2015; Wangmann, 2013). There are also challenges associated with the recognition or identification of coercive control, particularly in the absence of adequate practitioner learning and development in this complex area of practice (Wangmann, 2013). Johnson's typologies have also been refuted by some on conceptual grounds, including by Walby and Towers (2017), who argue that what Johnson describes is instead an escalation of violence, such that all violence could potentially escalate to coercively controlling intimate terrorism, if the victim-survivor does not have the (financial) resources to leave. This arguably deploys an overly narrow framing of DVA which inadvertently responsibilises victim-survivors for preventing escalation, rather than the perpetrator of abuse, and has therefore also attracted criticism (Donovan & Barnes, 2019a). While Myhill (2015) recognises the importance of the distinctions made by Johnson, he also emphasises the methodological challenges typologies may have for measuring prevalence and understandings of DVA more generally. Gadd and Corr (2017) similarly caution against an over reliance on typologies, to the detriment of 'missing' the specific meanings attributed to violence by perpetrators of DVA. This does not, however, obviate the use of typologies all together as they can foreground aspects of DVA which might otherwise be overlooked, providing it occurs within the context of an approach which recognises and responds to the diversity of people's experience.

This position aligns with Mennicke's (2019) argument for the need to engage with the understandings of the family members involved, rather than deploying 'top-down' deductive approaches when working with them to address DVA. There is also a need to validate the categories used to describe intimate partner violence according to the language used by them. Mennicke also argues for the expansion of Johnson's typologies, attending to the specificity and function of the control deployed within a relationship. Control Resistance constitutes the third control-related category of intimate partner violence identified by Mennicke, and is defined as a circumstance in which one partner is violent and controlling, while the other partner is controlling but not violent. Conversely, according to Johnson's typology, these patterns would be categorised as intimate terrorism. Drawing a further distinction between the two may therefore function to avoid erroneous conclusions regarding the dynamics and prevalence of intimate terrorism.

#### Key messages

- > How domestic violence and abuse is defined and understood informs how it is responded to, and the methods used to intervene in the behaviours of perpetrators of abuse.
- > A review of the literature substantiates the valuing of retaining a range of approaches and programmes to respond to perpetrators of DVA, in order to improve outcomes for adult and child victim-survivors.
- > A typology-informed understanding of the perpetration of DVA may, in some cases, enable a more nuanced perpetrator intervention, at different degrees and scales.
- > An analysis of how men perpetrators view or understand notions of masculinities and gender can play an important role in the development of effective behaviour change interventions.

# 7. An overview of programmes and interventions for perpetrators of DVA

Perpetrator interventions may differ in terms of method, objectives and scope, but they generally share the common goals of stopping the violence or abuse, increasing the safety of adult and child victimsurvivors, and holding the perpetrator of abuse to account (Callaghan et al., 2020; Pallatino et al., 2019), including to their children (Alderson et al., 2013). Various localised and national perpetrator initiatives have emerged over the last three decades or so (Bates et al., 2017; P. Davies, 2018), primarily aimed at heterosexual, cisgender men who perpetrate DVA. Respect has led this work for many years, and provides perpetrator programme accreditation in the UK. The Respect Standard 3<sup>rd</sup> edition sets out requirements for safe and effective practice with perpetrators of DVA, which includes the provision of integrated services for (ex)partners of men on the programme (Respect, 2017).

Types of programmes now include targeted prevention and intervention, early intervention, interventions for high-harm, high-risk perpetrators, and those with complex or multiple needs. Alongside these are couple, family and parenting-based interventions, as well as interventions which incorporate substance use or mental health interventions. Programmes for people in same-gender relationships as well as women perpetrators of DVA (see, for example, T. Walker, 2013) have been developed but are far fewer in number and there is less documented research regarding these.

#### The Duluth model

9

First originating in the USA, Pence and Paymar's (1993) Duluth coordinated community response (CCR) model is possibly the most well known, and historically dominant model for perpetrator intervention both in the UK and North America (Bohall et al., 2016). Many perpetrator programmes, particularly earlier ones, have their foundational roots in the Duluth CCR (Lilley-Walker et al., 2018). It is a multi-agency, systemic response which mobilises a gendered analysis of domestic abuse and addresses the ways in which patriarchal privilege manifests in the perpetration of violence against women and girls (Pence & Paymar, 2011). The CCR simultaneously addresses the needs of victim-survivors (Phillips et al., 2013) in order to ensure the safety of victim-survivors during the course of the perpetrator programme (McGinn et al., 2016) as well as to develop and maintain perpetrator accountability (White & Sienkiewicz, 2018). Typically, the Duluth model operates in tandem with cognitive behavioural informed therapeutic approaches which integrate group-work methods, in order to re-educate men who perpetrate violence (Bates et al., 2017).

In the UK context, the CCR approach has been pioneered by the charity Standing Together for the last two decades. The CCR 'enables a whole system approach to a whole person' and shifts responsibility for safety away from individual victim-survivors and onto communities and services (Standing Together, 2020, p.6). It encompasses a broad response to DVA by addressing prevention, early intervention, crisis, changing levels of risk, and longer-term recovery. Made up of 12 key components, it brings services including social care, housing, health, criminal justice, and communities together in order to ensure local systems keep victim-survivors safe and hold perpetrators to account, as well to prevent DVA. Standing Together guidance was reviewed in 2020 to ensure local areas were prepared to respond to the new duties and changes brought in by the *Domestic Abuse Act 2021*, including statutory duties associated with Tier 1 and 2 Boards (Standing Together, 2020). Given the Duluth model's prominence and longevity, perpetrator programmes which employ it (or variations of it) have been widely evaluated both in the UK and abroad (Akoensi et al., 2013; Bates et al., 2017; Crowley, 2017; L. Hamilton et al., 2013; Harvie & Manzi, 2011; Lilley-Walker et al., 2018; Westmarland & Kelly, 2015; Wojnicka, 2015), far more so than smaller less integrated interventions (Corvo et al., 2009; Miles & De Claire, 2018), as well as alternative interventions, for which there is a more limited evidence base (Gondolf, 2011). A large portion of the research related to programmes which deploy Duluth's more 'traditional' power and control model has come from North America, therefore is not always transferable to a UK context, particularly given fewer programmes in the USA offer integrated support for (ex)partners of men on the programme (Westmarland & Kelly, 2015).

#### Limitations

Notwithstanding the challenges associated with a fragmented evidence base discussed in forthcoming sections, the variable training backgrounds and inconsistent qualifications of trainers on some Duluth-informed programmes have been seen by some as limitations and a potential threat to programme integrity (Hamel, 2020; LeBlanc & Mong, 2021; P. K. Morrison et al., 2017; Pender, 2012). But unlike in the USA, the Respect standard 3<sup>rd</sup> edition (2017) provides clear mechanisms for the standardisation of safe and effective practice with perpetrators of abuse (across a range of programme types and approaches), thereby mitigating these concerns to some extent in the UK context. However, a mapping of perpetrator programmes by the Drive Partnership in 2019 identified fewer than one in three DA perpetrator programmes holds Respect accreditation so the quality of the remaining programmes cannot be known.

There are debates regarding the use of group work methodologies in work with perpetrators of DVA (McGinn et al., 2016, 2020; Murphy et al., 2020). The Duluth model is deemed by some as ineffectual for responding to women perpetrators of abuse and to DVA within same-gender couples (Hamel, 2020). Others have argued Duluth lacks robust strategies to respond to needs arising from racial, religious or cultural background (Waller, 2016), or to address experiences of racism or discrimination associated with insecure citizenship status (Turhan, 2020).

A number of evaluations and meta-analyses across a range of country settings have shown that perpetrator programmes that deploy the earlier discussed historically dominant methods for intervention can be associated with higher rates of recidivism (Aaron & Beaulaurier, 2017; O. Brooks et al., 2014; Butters et al., 2020; College of Policing, 2015; Liel, 2017; Vigurs et al., 2016), and in some cases, have small or limited effects in deterring further abuse (Akoensi et al., 2013; Arce et al., 2020; Butters et al., 2020; Zarling et al., 2019).

Attrition or 'drop-out' represents another key challenge for both programme success and evaluation (Berry et al., 2014). Attrition is a concern for intervention providers because people who do not complete programmes are arguably at higher risk of recidivism (Jewell & Wormith, 2010). Various studies suggest that perpetrator intervention programmes can have high rates of participant attrition (Richards et al., 2019). However, there are numerous variables which make it difficult to adequately compare or assess data on attrition, including extant variations in the definition of 'attrition', programme theoretical basis and content, programme length, and in the measurements of attrition at different stages of programming including pre- and in-programme (Jewell & Wormith, 2010; Richards et al., 2019). Together, these points underscore the need for greater standardisation of measures in evaluations in this field (Lilley-Walker et al., 2018).

More recently, some Duluth-informed perpetrator programmes have been deemed inadequate for responding to the increasingly prominent issue of technology facilitated abuse or digital coercive control, both in the UK and North America (Harris & Woodlock Delanie, 2019; Havard & Lefevre, 2020). This is, however, more likely to reflect a gap in the application to practice of a relatively small but growing body of research as regards to this rapidly evolving area of concern (Dragiewicz et al., 2018; Henry et al., 2020; Patel & Roesch, 2020; Snaychuk & O'Neill, 2020).

#### Opportunities

Fundamental components of the Duluth model continue to be recognised as good practice for perpetrator intervention, both in the UK and internationally. This includes its gendered focus, as well as the CCR, with the requisite provision of an integrated service for (ex)partners of men on the programme (Brown & Hampson, 2009; Cleaver et al., 2019; European Network for the Work with Perpetrators of Domestic Violence, 2019; Liz Kelly & Westmarland, 2015; Lilley-Walker et al., 2018; SafeLives, 2020b; Westmarland, 2011), which evidence suggests can increase women's feelings of safety (Westwood et al., 2020).

The emphasis on victim-survivor experience espoused in the Duluth CCR model remains crucially important, and is bolstered by the model's inherent feminist theoretical framing. It facilitates an analysis of power in the behaviours exhibited by abusive men, which itself coheres with a feminist analysis of unequal gender dynamics and gender socialisation (Gondolf, 2010). Together these factors function to critically re-focus attention onto the person causing harm and increase accountability within the constellation of services involved in the person's support and intervention (Gondolf, 2007).

The Power and Control wheel, developed from women's lived experiences of DVA, sets out the dynamics of a relationship with an abusive person and its various impacts. It is another key component of the model which provides dialogical mechanisms to confront men's abusive behaviour and support the development of alternative behaviours and beliefs, within the therapeutic process towards behaviour change (Gondolf, 2010). It has now been widely adapted and licensed to accommodate different people's experiences including those in same-gender relationships and LGBTQ+ people. There are also religiously and culturally specific versions (Chavis & Hill, 2008; Rankine et al., 2017), and one for technology-facilitated power coercively controlling behaviours (Havard & Lefevre, 2020). Together these factors challenge assertions that the Duluth model is unable to adapt or respond to a diverse range of needs or identities among perpetrators of DVA.

Research conducted with victim-survivors involved in integrated programmes indicate that they can also play a key role in the monitoring of perpetrator behaviour, in addition to providing advocacy and validation of victim-survivor experience (McGinn et al., 2016; Westmarland & Kelly, 2015; Westwood et al., 2020). There is also evidence to suggest that integrated programmes may reach victim-survivors who otherwise may not have accessed support or come to the attention of services (McGinn et al., 2019). There are a number of examples of programmes in the UK, discussed in forthcoming sections which are embedded as local adaptations of a CCR. Evidence from these programmes demonstrate a range of positive outcomes including perpetrator behaviour change and a reduction in the incidence of violence.

These are in addition to outcomes which extend beyond the cessation of violence including increased feelings of safety among victim-survivors, and improved relationships and parenting practices. These are discussed in the context of specific programmes and approaches in the next section, as well as in the sections on Measuring outcomes and Whole family approaches.

#### Domestic violence perpetrator programmes within Coordinated Community Responses

The most commonly seen intervention in the UK is the domestic violence perpetrator programme (DVPP)<sup>2</sup>, and there is evidence of these programmes being successfully co-located within children's social care settings (Phillips, 2012). DVPPs are generally divided into criminal justice or community-based/non-criminal justice programmes, with evidence suggesting that community programmes are increasingly receiving referrals from social work child protection and family courts (Liz Kelly & Westmarland, 2015, p. 184).

DVPPs aim to reduce the incidence of DVA by altering the attitudes, belief systems and behaviours of the person causing the harm. They are informed by research regarding the nature of DVA and typically deploy cognitive behavioural, (pro)feminist, psychodynamic and / or psychoeducational models of intervention in a group setting (Akoensi et al., 2013; Phillips et al., 2013). Early programmes were strongly informed by the Duluth model (Lilley-Walker et al., 2018), but often in conjunction with other therapeutic frameworks (Westmarland & Kelly, 2015). Counselling and therapeutic-based approaches are increasingly being used (Miles & De Claire, 2018), along with programmes that implement a multi-treatment or multi-method approach (S. A. Morgan et al., 2019). Many are motivation based and or recovery focused, and informed by individual need (Butters et al., 2020; Vigurs et al., 2016).

#### The Mirabal evaluation of DVPPs

The Mirabal evaluation of Respect-accredited UK-based DVPPs for men examined programmes across 11 sites (Westmarland & Kelly, 2015). The evaluation utilised control groups and assessed outcomes for women and children victim-survivors. It set out six outcome measures with authors expanding what constitutes programme 'success' beyond the cessation of physical violence (Westmarland et al., 2010). The introduction of these measures therefore account for the possibility that the physical violence may stop, but that women and children continue to live in a coercively controlling or threatening environment.

The evaluation suggested that DVPPs not only achieve behaviour change among participants, but also function as an important mechanism for coordinated decision-making and a key reference point for the various agencies working to intervene in DVA, including children's services and CAFCASS, thereby underscoring the substantial value of the CCR discussed earlier. The evaluation also underscored the importance of programme or service integrity, noting it is best achieved through robust monitoring processes, case and practice management, clinical supervision and reflection. Authors asserted that the Respect standard (Respect, 2017) substantially contributes to achieving service integrity, while noting the added pressures posed by ongoing cuts to resources and budgets (Westmarland & Kelly, 2015).

<sup>2</sup> Known as Batterer Intervention Programmes (BIPs) in Canada and the United States, and Men's Behaviour Change Programmes (MBCPs) in Australia and elsewhere outside of the UK (O'Connor et al., 2020).

# 8. Community-based responses to perpetrators of DVA

Community-based programmes and interventions for perpetrators of DVA, as part of a coordinated response, are wide ranging, and there are a number being run across the UK and elsewhere at any given time. This includes a range of **Respect Accredited programmes**; several are documented in research and independently evaluated, though others are not. Sector leaders assert that interventions for perpetrators of DVA should be underpinned by support for victim-survivors as discussed above, and should include broad referral pathways and information sharing, good governance, culturally appropriate practice, discussed later, as well as, quality assurance (Respect et al., 2021).

#### Types of intervention to respond to perpetrators of DVA can include:

- > Behaviour change structured group work programmes
- > Intensive one-to-one case management
- > Early intervention
- > Coordinated multi-agency response and disruption
- > Specialist group or one-to-one behaviour change interventions for specific groups such as LGBTQ+ and women perpetrators of DVA, or those with disabilities
- > Prevention through education and awareness with behaviour change intervention
- > Statutory provision via policing, courts and the criminal justice system (Respect et al., 2021).

Forthcoming sections provide some examples of community-based interventions, but this is not an exhaustive nor comprehensive list. Some engage with men who are fathers, but others do not. However, they have been included where the programming or model in question may hold some broader applicability for work with men in families with children, in children's social care settings. The examples also include parenting programmes which work with perpetrators of DVA who are fathers. It is, however, important to acknowledge the differing aims of violence prevention programmes and those of parenting programmes. While they do frequently overlap, and are advantageous when combined, such as in the case of DVIP discussed below, they are not the same, and do not function as a substitute for one another (Respect, 2013, p.10).

#### Caring Dads: Safer Children programme

The Caring Dads programme was first developed in Canada by Scott and Crooks in 2004 and is a group parenting intervention for men who have been identified as being at risk of abusing or neglecting their children or of exposing children to DVA. The intervention entails contact with the child(ren)'s mother and coordinated case management in order to reduce risk posed to family members. The programme promotes child-centred fathering and focuses on enhancing men's motivation and ability to engage in respectful, non-abusive co-parenting practices with the child(ren)'s mother. It has been integrated into other wider-ranging programmes such as Newham's NewDAy programme (Langdon-Shreeve et al., 2020).

A UK evaluation (McConnell et al, 2017) of the programme found 'promising' evidence that it contributes to reducing risks to children, as well as indicating there was behaviour change and improved parenting practices among some participants of the programme. Data also suggested that the improvements to fathers' behaviour also contributed to increased feelings of safety and wellbeing among members of the men's families. These findings are further corroborated in an Australian evaluation (Diemer et al., 2020) which assessed behaviour change against six indicators including recognition of harmful behaviour among themselves and other men on the programme and embedding positive fathering practices. A Canadian study (K. Scott et al., 2021) examined child protection outcomes over two years, for families in which the father was enrolled on the Caring Dads programme. It found significant benefits including greater engagement of fathers in child protection case management and lower rates of abuse perpetrated by the fathers.

#### Make a Change (MAC) and Change that Lasts Wales

*Make a change* (MAC) is an integrated model that addresses both organisational and community level responses to DVA, supports behaviour change among perpetrators of abuse, and provides support to (ex) partners. It aims to engage people who are concerned about their behaviour at an earlier stage than more typical perpetrator programme interventions. The intervention is designed to take place before behaviour escalates to the point where intervention is court-mandated or required by child protection orders (Callaghan et al., 2020, p. 2). The MAC model permits referrals from any source and does not require a disclosure of abuse during the first phase of the model, prior to the intervention taking place. The removal of this requirement is understood as central to the programme. Like other programmes, the needs and safety of victim-survivors are prioritised.

Other examples of intervention at an earlier stage include *Change that lasts Wales* which is a communitybased model first developed by Welsh Women's Aid in partnership with Women's Aid Federation. It uses a whole systems approach, and includes work with perpetrators of DVA or those who are at risk of perpetrating DVA (Women's Aid, 2017).

#### Healthy relationships programming

Community-based programmes such as healthy relationship interventions seek to address the needs of perpetrators of abuse using methods by which people are provided opportunities to develop alternative relationship strategies, such as the Men in Healthy Relationships 20-week programme in Canada (Wong & Bouchard, 2020). Others such as the Building Better Relationships (BBR) programme, are delivered by the probation service in the UK (Bloomfield & Dixon, 2015; K. Walker et al., 2016; Woolford & Wardhaugh, 2019) as well as in Sweden (Haggård et al., 2017). BBR represents one of 14 HMPPS (Her Majesty's Prison and Probation Service) accredited perpetrator programmes for delivery in the community (Ministry of Justice, 2021).

The *Up2u* programme (Pearson & Ford, 2018), evaluated in 2018, is another healthy relationships based intervention which mobilises a risk and needs-led approach which aims to respond to perpetrators' criminogenic needs in a manner that is alert to their individual learning style and at an intensity that coheres with their presenting risk. Unlike several of the other programmes discussed here, and representing a deviation from established practice using Duluth type models, it does not engage with a gendered approach in order to effect behaviour change (Pearson & Ford, 2018).

#### Jacana parenting service

This service was piloted in Hackney, London and was developed and delivered in partnership with the nia project and the local domestic violence intervention project (DVIP), a Respect-accredited member operating in several London Boroughs. Its primary aim was to support parents affected by DVA, and offered separate interventions to mother victim-survivors, and fathers who perpetrated DVA, using individual and group work. The programme's work with men sought to extend existing perpetrator programme models by elaborating the content on fathering in order to respond to a 'gap' in provision which failed to respond to perpetrators of DVA who are fathers. An evaluation was conducted in 2011, and identified success indicators associated with increased adult and child victim-survivor safety, and enhanced relationships between mothers and children, and fathers and children (Coy et al., 2011).

#### Strength to Change

No longer in operation, this was a voluntary programme for men perpetrators of DVA in the North East of England. A range of therapeutic approaches were used during the initial ten individual sessions offered to the men, followed by a group work programme lasting up to one year. A parallel service was offered to partners of the men on an individual or one-to-one basis. An evaluation between 2009 and 2011 indicated that the majority of the participants were fathers, and that participation on the programme promoted an understanding of the impacts of DVA on children, and that understanding their roles as fathers served as a key motivation for behaviour change (Stanley et al., 2012).

It is important to note that several of these interventions are no longer in operation, owing to shortterm or insecure funding, which can impede longer-term practice development and systems and culture change in this area of practice, particularly within children's social care settings. Please see the Strategic Briefing for further discussion.

#### Coordinated multi-agency and disruption responses to perpetrators of DVA

Responses which mobilise a targeted perpetrator-focused strategy across a range of agencies, in order to disrupt and intervene in perpetrator offender behaviour, typically focus on high-risk, high-harm perpetrators of DVA, and through perpetrator panels. Examples include:

#### **Drive Project Intervention**

The Drive Project intervention, launched in April 2016, is another model of collaborative intervention and disruption, which mobilises a whole systems, whole family approach. It focuses on high-harm, high-risk perpetrators, including those considered serial<sup>3</sup> perpetrators (Hester et al., 2017), with the key aim of reducing numbers of child and adult victim-survivors through the deterrence of perpetrator behaviour. It has been piloted in three areas across England and Wales from 2016 to 2019. An evaluation of the Drive Project intervention by the University of Bristol suggests that it was successful in reducing abusive behaviour, and led to increased safety for victim-survivors, and a reduction of risk in three quarters of the cases over the period of the intervention. It also created increased opportunities for victim-survivor decision-making and, in some cases, leave-seeking where this outcome was sought by the victim-survivor.

3 Serial perpetrators are understood as those that abuse multiple people, in contrast to repeat perpetrators who abuse the same person multiple times.

15 Working with people who perpetrate domestic violence and abuse in families - Summary report

Drive was piloted in three areas across England and Wales from 2016 to 2019. Findings were generated via a randomised control trial, which synthesised data from a range of qualitative and quantitative date sources. The evaluation assessed outcomes following the 10-month delivery and the 12 months thereafter, to assess whether change was sustained. Findings from the evaluation indicated the intervention was successful across various outcome measures, including in reducing abusive behaviour, increased safety for victim-survivors, and a reduction of risk in three quarters of the cases over the period of the intervention. It also created increased opportunities for victim-survivor decision-making and, in some cases, leave-seeking where this outcome was sought by the victim-survivor.

#### MATAC

The multi-agency tasking and coordinated approach (MATAC) aims to intervene earlier in the behaviour of serial (Robinson, 2017) or high-harm perpetrators of abuse (P. Davies, 2018; P. A. Davies & Biddle, 2018). They are grounded in research from across a range of country settings which, authors argue, indicate that according to police data, the most harmful, prolific DVA is perpetrated by a relatively small minority of offenders (Bland & Ariel, 2015; Robinson & Clancy, 2020; Sherman et al., 2016). This does not, however, account for those perpetrators of DVA who do not come to the attention of police (or other agencies).

Methodological tools such as the Priority Perpetrator Identification Tool (PPIT) have also been developed to manage high-risk offenders within the context of a criminal justice multi-agency partnership strategy (Robinson & Clancy, 2020). There are examples of these being implemented in Australia (G. Hamilton et al., 2019) and in North America (Juodis et al., 2014). Though not currently widely used in the UK, three pilots have been conducted in three police force areas in England and Wales. An evaluation indicated improved organisational practices across a range of relevant agencies working to hold perpetrators of DVA to account within the context of a more collaborative systemic response (Robinson & Clancy, 2020).

#### Key messages

- > Perpetrator interventions should prioritise outcomes for adult and child victim-survivors.
- Safe and effective interventions for perpetrators of DVA should be provided within the context of an integrated or coordinated community response, which includes the requisite support provision for victim-survivors, as set out in the Respect Standard (3rd edition 2017).
- Evidence from evaluated programmes, discussed here, together suggest interventions and programmes which respond to perpetrators of DVA require:
  - A multi-agency, multi-sector response across a range of different settings
  - A combination of different types of engagement including one-to-one and group work
  - Broad and varied referral pathways
  - Information sharing across the services and providers involved in supporting families
  - Robust risk assessment and management
  - Good governance.

# 9. Interventions in health settings

#### Mental health and substance use treatment

Recent research lends support to incorporating mental health and or substance use treatment in interventions for perpetrators of DVA (where relevant) (Cordis Bright, 2019; L. Hughes et al., 2015; Isobe et al., 2020; Stephens-Lewis et al., 2019). This is bolstered by evidence highlighting the limited engagement with mental health issues in some perpetrator programmes (Greaves et al., 2016; Portnoy et al., 2020; Trevillion et al., 2015), with the mental health needs of people who perpetrate DVA often left unmet (Lilley-Walker et al., 2018). Much earlier research from Jones, Gondolf and colleagues has also highlighted that mental health is a factor for perpetrator programme drop-out and re-assault.

The need to attend to substance use or mental health need among perpetrators of DVA are substantiated in the evaluation of Drive Project intervention for high-harm perpetrators of DVA (Hester et al., 2017). They are also reflected in an evaluation of perpetrator programme efficacy which reasserted the need to take account of substance use or mental health need in assessment and support, thereby requiring support either as part of the programme, or via appropriate sign-posting (Cordis Bright, 2019).

Analysis of domestic homicide reviews (DHRs) in England and Wales indicated that 49% of perpetrators of domestic homicide had a mental health diagnosis (Chantler et al., 2020). This study is preceded by an earlier study also conducted in England and Wales which illustrated a similar picture (Oram et al., 2013). Analysis of DHRs involving people aged 60 and over also strongly corroborates these data (Benbow et al., 2019), while a recent study with fathers who have experienced repeat care proceedings showed fathers commonly present with poor mental health (Philip et al., 2021).

These studies suggest that mental health services provide an important setting in which to engage people who perpetrate DVA, as well as to discuss the issue of DVA, in order to facilitate disclosure and much earlier intervention. Data also suggests there is a higher concentration of mental health need among people who perpetrate DVA, in comparison to the general population (Bhavsar et al., 2020). This does not imply a causal link, but recognising these factors could create more opportunities for risk reduction and improved safety outcomes for victim-survivors, by encouraging people with mental health needs to access services, as well as increase inter-agency working across providers such as mental health, police, social services, and DVA services (Oram et al., 2013). Writing in relation to the North American context, Gondolf (2009) highlighted the challenges of achieving collaboration across mental health (and substance use) services and perpetrator programme delivery, as part of a broader CCR.

Draft statutory guidance issued in line with the Domestic Abuse Bill (2020) reasserted the importance of increasing awareness of DVA across all health provision (Home Office, 2019). Emphasis is placed on routine enquiry as regards to DVA within mental health settings, as well as to address the complex needs of people who perpetrate DVA, including those associated with trauma and substance use (Home Office, 2019).

#### General medical practice

A survey of men attending UK primary health clinics found that a large minority of men presenting to general practice (GP) had either experienced or perpetrated DVA (Hester et al., 2015). Similar findings have emerged from the USA (Green & Browne, 2020; Semiatin et al., 2017). Men who perpetrate or experience DVA typically regard general practice as their primary source of help (K. Morgan et al., 2014); a point further substantiated in a survey with men attending UK DVPPs (Tarzia et al., 2020; Williamson et al., 2015). Some authors have also found that men do not tend to object to being asked about negative behaviours in the context of mental health or other associated problems (Hester et al., 2015; Williamson et al., 2015).

Evidence suggests that healthcare practitioners do not routinely ask men about DVA (K. Morgan et al., 2014), despite prior research supporting this approach (see, for example, Westmarland et al., 2004). Some scholars assert that if men's perpetration or experience of DVA is not identified by clinicians, the management of associated mental health concerns may also remain inadequate (Hester et al., 2015), linking into the points made earlier. Together, these findings provide a compelling case for an improved healthcare response to people who perpetrate DVA, including better screening for DVA in general medical practice (De Puy et al., 2017; K. Morgan et al., 2014; Portnoy et al., 2020; Tarzia et al., 2020).

#### Examples from practice: REPROVIDE and ADVANCE

REPROVIDE is now a multisite randomised controlled trial with mixed methods evaluation to assess perpetrator programme efficacy. It previously piloted training and support interventions for general practice settings in order to improve responses to men who perpetrate or experience DVA, as well as to children exposed to DVA (K. Morgan & Jones, n.d.; University of Bristol, 2018). No longer in operation, it expanded on the earlier, now well-established IRIS integrated domestic violence training for general practice model, for victim-survivors of DVA (IRISi, 2017). ADVANCE offers an example of a programme which addresses substance use as part of an integrated, needs-led approach (Gilchrist et al., 2020).

#### **Key messages**

- Evidence suggests that health settings represent key locations for DVA screening and early intervention, within a coordinated multi-agency response.
- Research points to the value of incorporating DVA as part of routine enquiry in healthcare settings so that intervention with people engaging in harmful behaviours can take place at an earlier stage.
- Earlier intervention in health settings could enable any co-occurring or complex needs of people who perpetrate DVA, including those associated with trauma and or substance use, to be identified and responded to.
- Multi-agency and cross-sector working between children's social care and health care providers, may offer opportunities to work with, and intervene in, the behaviours of people involved with children's social care who perpetrate DVA.

# 10. Motivation for engagement and behaviour change

Understanding why and how perpetrators of abuse change their behaviour is crucial to the development of both policy and practice in this area (McGinn et al., 2020; Sheehan et al., 2012), as is an analysis of why people may remain on, or 'drop out' from programmes. These factors are also key to increasing the efficacy of perpetrator behaviour change programmes (Richards et al., 2019), particularly as regards to achieving and sustaining the cessation of violence in the longer term (Morran, 2013), as well as to achieve other broader outcomes (discussed in Measuring Outcomes section).

Studies which have interrogated what might drive change among perpetrators of DVA foreground the substantive challenges and complexities of seeking to engage men who use violence before they reach 'crisis point', or prior to criminal justice measures (Forsdike et al., 2018). Systematic reviews in this area reveal a range of levels and types of motivation which variously impact on the change process (McGinn et al., 2020; Santirso et al., 2020). Identifying motivation for behaviour change often focuses on an analysis of critical 'turning points', set out in one Canadian study as: identifying key incidents that precede change, learning new skills, development of relationships within and outside of the change programme, and taking responsibility for past behaviour. The latter featured most consistently across the studies reviewed (Sheehan et al., 2012, p.31), a point further substantiated by research from Sweden (Gottzén, 2019).

An Australian study investigated the factors which contribute to men's continued engagement on a behaviour change programme, using the theory of planned behaviour (Forsdike et al., 2018). Emphasis here was placed on the identification of a 'trigger' or 'turning point' which coheres with other work in this area, which sought to investigate perpetrator motivation for change (Dziewa & Glowacz, 2018; Samelius et al., 2014; Sheehan et al., 2012; K. Walker et al., 2017). Findings underscore that some men may not ever be motivated to change, but many are, and it is this potential for change, which authors argue should be harnessed in the design and implementation of early intervention programmes in particular (Stanley et al., 2012; Gadd & Corr, 2017; McGinn et al., 2020). Gadd and Corr (2017) reassert this claim in relation to work with perpetrators of DVA within social work settings. A point echoed by others, particularly when set within an intersectional framework of intervention for responding to men from diverse backgrounds (Adisa & Allen, 2020; Waller, 2016).

#### Fatherhood as a potential motivator for change

Following research with fathers enrolled on perpetrator programmes, some authors suggest that fatherhood may offer a viable opportunity to motivate their engagement in interventions geared towards addressing gendered forms of DVA (Meyer, 2018). Other studies identify the extent to which new fatherhood is a motivator for change, underscoring the advantages of intervention in the perinatal period and of including a focus on parenting, which together may facilitate engagement in violence reduction initiatives (Domoney et al., 2019; Domoney & Trevillion, 2020). Further, evidence from programmes, such as the Strength to Change programme referred to earlier, suggests that cultivating men's involvement with children's social services and fathering roles, can promote motivation to engage with a process of change (Stanley et al., 2012). Some authors also argue that children can provide a powerful context through which the impact of violent behaviour can be challenged and addressed (Broady et al., 2017; McConnell et al, 2017), as well as occupying a key role in violence prevention efforts (Wells et al., 2013).

19 Working with people who perpetrate domestic violence and abuse in families - Summary report

But, the leveraging of fatherhood as motivation within this frame is not without complex challenges, and there is a risk that this construction of fatherhood could inadvertently feed into a harmful 'fathers' rights' discourse (Flood, 2010; Rosen et al., 2009). The challenges are brought into sharp focus when considered in view of the potential harm posed to children (and their mothers) who continue to have contact with fathers who are abusive, which, as the evidence indicates, can often outweigh any possible benefits (Feresin et al., 2019; Harne, 2011; L Kelly et al., 2014; F. Morrison, 2015; R. K. Thiara & Gill, 2012). Evidence documenting the ways in which abusive fathers continue to use coercive controlling behaviours to harm mothers and children in post-separation contexts (discussed further in the section on Children's Social Care responses) also further strengthens these concerns (Harne, 2011; Humphreys et al., 2019; Katz et al., 2020) – concerns which are strongly substantiated in research with children themselves (Evans & Lindsay, 2008; Holt, 2011, 2018; Macdonald, 2016, 2017).

#### Key messages

- Understanding why and how perpetrators of abuse change their behaviour is crucial to the development of both policy and practice in this area.
- Findings underscore that while some men may not be motivated to change, many are, and it is this potential for change that should be harnessed in the design and implementation of interventions; both adults' and children's social care play a key role in being a conduit for this.
- An analysis of 'turning points' may offer useful insights as regards to motivating and sustaining change among this cohort of men.
- It is beneficial to both acknowledge and cultivate men's potential for change when designing and implementing early intervention programmes.

# 11. DVA perpetrator work through an intersectional lens

Intersectional thought is rooted in Black feminist scholarship (Alexander-Floyd, 2012; H. S. Mirza & Gunaratnam, 2014). Coined by Crenshaw (1989, 1991), intersectionality was first elaborated as a metaphor for understanding Black African and Caribbean women's experience of violence, as fundamentally shaped by interlocking gendered, racialised and classed inequalities. An intersectional analysis of DVA accounts for the ways in which minoritised people must navigate a system of structural oppression (D. Brooks et al., 2021). In this, gender interacts with other structural oppressions and inequalities of race, ethnicity, class, age, sexuality, economic status and or (dis)ability, which together fundamentally shape experiences of DVA (Ferguson et al., 2020; Hester, 2012; Nixon & Humphreys, 2010; O'Brien, 2016),, both for victim-survivors and perpetrators of DVA (Chavis & Hill, 2008; Roguski & Edge, 2021).

An intersectional analysis can therefore provide opportunities for a more nuanced formulation of prevention approaches and programmes, which better attend to the diversity of perpetrator identities and broader family complexities, and in turn potentially expand the possibilities for improved outcomes for adult and child victim-survivors. An intersectional analysis could also better equip providers to respond to guidance from sector leaders which asserts that interventions for perpetrators should be underpinned by culturally appropriate practice (Respect et al., 2021).

Intersectionality can also offer a valuable lens with which to better understand the intersections with multiple adversities as well as socioeconomic status – lived experiences of both affluence and poverty – and how these operate in the lives of families who come to the attention of children's social care (Ferguson et al., 2020; Philip et al., 2021; Skafida et al., 2021). This is particularly relevant in the case of fathers (and mothers) who are involved in children's social care (Morris et al., 2018), including those who experience recurrent<sup>4</sup> care proceedings (Cox et al., 2020; Philip et al., 2021).

#### Ethnically and racially minoritised communities

There is limited research regarding minoritised communities' experiences of DVA both in terms of victimhood and perpetration, with noticeable gaps in understanding relating to community-specific understandings and perceptions of intimate partner violence and abuse (Abdalla Ballela, 2016; Chimba et al., 2012; Liz Kelly et al., 2016; N. Mirza, 2018). This includes a lack of understanding of the different meanings and mechanisms through which 'justice' is understood, sought, accessed and experienced by Black African and Caribbean people as well as Asian and other minoritised communities (Gangoli et al., 2020; R. Thiara, 2020).

The intersection of individual experiences of DVA with the experiences of state-perpetrated violence, institutional racism, insecure immigration status, hate crime, and the limitations of an overly criminalised response to domestic abuse, are further emphasised in this context (Adisa & Allen, 2020; Femi-Ajao et al., 2020; Liz Kelly et al., 2016; Richie & Eife, 2020). One study which foregrounds the experiences of Black African and Caribbean heritage people indicates that the language typically used to describe those that harm through DVA, such as 'perpetrator', while accepted by the majority, may be regarded as reinforcing negative cultural stereotypes about race and criminality by some, and could function as a barrier to some men's engagement on behaviour change programmes (Adisa & Allen, 2020, p. 11). This emphasises the need to further examine the nuance and complexities associated with the dominant framing and language used in relation to DVA, as well as in relation to child protection work more generally (Brid Featherstone et al., 2018).

4 'Recurrent' care proceedings refer to birth mothers and fathers who appear as respondents in care proceedings, who have had children removed from their care in previous proceedings.

Advocates of culturally sensitive or responsive perpetrator provision argue that they enable perpetrators of DVA to be held accountable in culturally appropriate ways (White & Sienkiewicz, 2018), while also recognising the dual impacts of structural racism and discrimination in the lives of minoritised perpetrators of DVA (Guru, 2006; Turhan, 2020). Proponents also argue that cultural competency in services for minoritised populations may improve perpetrator programme efficacy (Cannon, Ferreira, et al., 2020; Price, 2016; White & Sienkiewicz, 2018), and, when combined with integrative, therapeutic strengths-based practices, could promote behaviour change among these cohorts of men (Turhan, 2020; Waller, 2016). Leaders in the sector also assert that interventions should be informed by culturally appropriate practices (Respect et al., 2021).

There is some research regarding the use of regionally, racially and or culturally-specific interventions for minoritised groups of men perpetrators, albeit limited in the UK. This is arguably a product of the extant 'diversity gap' (Todd, 2020) in perpetrator research. Early US-based evaluations suggest that culturally and racially specific programming could promote programme completion among men with 'high cultural identification' (Gondolf, 2004) or 'high racial identification', while also taking into account socio-economic status of those enrolled on programmes (Gondolf, 2008, 2012). These claims are accompanied by the author's own caveat that the evidence is inconclusive for minoritised men *in general*, thereby underscoring the need for further research in this area, particularly for the UK context. These studies do, however, cohere with more recent research, which emphasises the value of addressing issues of diversity or marginalisation within perpetrator programmes and services, along with acknowledging the role of cultural identification (Holtrop et al., 2017), including within probation settings (Thandi, 2012).

#### Examples of specialist intersectional provision

Examples<sup>5</sup> of evaluated specialist services, programmes or interventions which have strategically deployed an intersectional analysis in programme development and delivery, include culturally responsive provision such as Al-Aman in London, the Arabic-speaking project of the Domestic Violence Intervention Project (DVIP) (DVIP, 2012). Others include interventions for men perpetrators located in poorer, more marginalised rural communities (Walter & Chung, 2020) and for those of Aboriginal heritage in Australia (Andrews et al., 2018). There are also several examples from North America of evaluated perpetrator programmes, including one for men from migrant communities (Sokoloff, 2008); a spiritually and culturally based programme for Latino Men within a local Parish (Davis et al., 2013); and services for African-American men who use alcohol in economically deprived communities (Peralta et al., 2010).

This is not an exhaustive nor comprehensive list; it merely provides a very brief 'snapshot' of the types of provision that are possible when an intersectional lens is strategically applied. Studies mapping the outcomes of these programmes underscore the key roles culture, religion, and / or socioeconomic status can occupy in the formulation of intervention content and method of delivery (Parra-Cardona et al., 2013).

22 Working with people who perpetrate domestic violence and abuse in families - Summary report

<sup>5</sup> There are also a number of programmes and services currently running in the UK, which similarly utilise an intersectional lens in the formulation of content, approach and / or service delivery. But they have not been evaluated or there is not any available literature regarding them, therefore they are not included here. It is also important to highlight that some of these programmes work with men who have children, but others do not.

#### Sexuality and gender minorities

Dominant discourse until more recently has constructed DVA as a social problem primarily of physical violence within the context of heterosexual relationships (Donovan & Barnes, 2019b, 2019c; Messinger, 2018). This framing has informed the service response in the UK (Donovan & Hester, 2014). While the reality of non-physical abuse and coercive control is now more readily understood (Stark, 2009; Williamson, 2010), there is less recognition of DVA among sexuality and gender diverse people (Barnes & Donovan, 2016; Donovan & Barnes, 2019c). Transgender people's experiences of DVA, both as victim-survivors and perpetrators, are especially under acknowledged (Barrett & Sheridan, 2017; Donovan et al., 2014; Guadalupe-Diaz & Jasinski, 2017; Rogers, 2019).

Using an intersectional lens can be useful for challenging the heteronormativity and cisnormativity of dominant DVA discourse Harden et al., 2020; Možíšová, 2017; Rogers, 2019). A typology reading of DVA could better account for DVA within non-binary and LGBTQ+ communities, as practitioners are encouraged to think beyond typical framings of gender in work to address DVA perpetration among these cohorts of people (Hamel, 2020). Scholars in this area reassert the need to better address the realities of homo, bi and transphobia in the lives of LGBTQ+ perpetrators, as well as for the different ways in which gender and power operate within and across relationships in these communities (Donovan & Barnes, 2019b; Harden et al., 2020; Lewis et al., 2017).

#### Key messages

- People's experiences of DVA, in terms of both victimhood and perpetration, are shaped by their intersectional identities. As such, there is value in recognising the roles race, culture, religion, ethnicity, class, (dis)ability, sexuality, gender-identity, poverty and or socioeconomic status may occupy in the lives of perpetrators of DVA and their families, and the ways these interact with responses to perpetrators of DVA.
- There is some evidence to suggest there is value in developing interventions which take account of intersectional inequalities in the lives of minoritised people who perpetrate DVA; there is a need to explore and expand this evidence base further.
- Research with families who have experienced (recurrent) care proceedings indicates the need to consider the role multiple adversities and / or the economic status of families occupy, and how these may shape their ability to engage with (children's social care) support.
- When delivering perpetrator interventions, it is important to be alert to the intersections of institutionalised racism and or trans/bi/homophobia.
- Dominant understandings and responses to DVA are often too limited and therefore obscure the experiences of non-binary, lesbian, gay and bisexual people who both experience and perpetrate DVA; transgender people's experiences are especially underrepresented within this frame.

### 12. Children's social care responses to people who perpetrate DVA in families

There is a growing body of literature on work with men who perpetrate DVA in the context of families, when they come to the attention of children's social care services. Hester's (2011) 'three planets' model provides a useful framework for analysis when thinking about the complexities associated with this area of practice. Each 'planet' encompasses contrasting policies, practices and principles, including regarding work with fathers who perpetrate DVA (Hester, 2011). Examination of typical child protection practices points to a tendency to minimise the reality that some fathers are also perpetrators of DVA, and as such, 'everyday practices within statutory services collude with this disconnection' by implementing inadequate measures to hold men who perpetrate DVA to account both for their abuse, as well as for failing to protect their children (Alderson et al., 2013, p. 190). Dominant practices in child protection work in circumstances of DVA subsequently produce the routine and systematic responsibilisation of the mother victim-survivor (Coy et al., 2015; Cramp & Zufferey, 2020; Lapierre, 2009; Morriss, 2018; Smith & Humphreys, 2019) which undermines risk management (Maxwell, Scourfield, Holland, et al., 2012), and embeds the comparative absence of the father (Lapierre, 2010; Nygren et al., 2019; Strega et al., 2008).

This tendency to focus on the victim-survivor as 'the only solution', with far too little attention on the perpetrator of abuse, combined with the disproportionate allocation of responsibility to the mother, was identified as a clear practice pattern, during a Joint Targeted Area Inspection (CQC et al., 2017). As such, mothers are held accountable for ensuring the perpetrator of DVA stops the abuse (Feresin et al., 2018; Holt, 2016; Humphreys & Absler, 2011), and for the fact that she and her children are in that situation (Coy et al., 2012). Children's social care assessment and intervention practices have been shown to contribute to a 'stop-start pattern' of social work that is inconsistent with building the trust and engagement necessary to adequately respond to men who perpetrate DVA in families (Stanley et al., 2011). This has significant implications for management of perpetrator risk (Olszowy et al., 2020).

Case file analysis as well as accounts from mothers evidence the extent to which fathers are not routinely contacted, remain undocumented in case file notes, are often absent during assessments, and not regularly included in intervention processes (Featherstone & Fraser, 2012; Nygren et al., 2019; Wild, 2020; Zanoni et al., 2013). This creates a strained and distrustful relationship between mothers and social care services (or individual social workers) (Devaney, 2009), particularly when DVA is viewed by practitioners as something to be 'overcome' rather than a trauma to be supported (Robbins & Cook, 2018). It can also lead to a reluctance among mothers to disclose abuse and can impede help-seeking, due to legitimate concerns that it may lead to children's social care proceedings and potentially the removal of children (Feresin et al., 2018; Morriss, 2018; Sidebotham et al., 2016).

#### Social work with people who perpetrate DVA in families

Fathers who perpetrate DVA often continue to have access to their children in some capacity (Coy et al., 2015; Holt, 2016, 2018; Humphreys et al., 2019; Katz et al., 2020), and they may also go on to establish new relationships after separating from their current partner (Westmarland & Kelly, 2015), potentially with other children (Maxwell, Scourfield, Featherstone, et al., 2012; Strega et al., 2008). Together these factors strengthen the argument for engaging this cohort of men within the context of social work practice (Devaney, 2009, 2014; Ewart-Boyle et al., 2015; Featherstone & Fraser, 2012; Heward-Belle et al., 2019). The engagement of fathers in children's social care ranges from locating and contacting them, documenting them in case files, and or directly working with them in the context of safety planning for women and children (Brid Featherstone & Peckover, 2007) and crucially, holding them to account through child protection measures typically reserved for mothers (Brid Featherstone, 2017). Approaches which take forward these actions within the context of prevention and (early) intervention have been slow to materialise (Pfitzner et al., 2017).

How fathers are worked with in children's social care settings is an area of debate, often characterised by an assessment of fathers as 'risk' and / or 'resource' in the lives of children in the family (Brid Featherstone, 2013; Philip et al., 2019). The problems of this framing are elaborated in a number of serious case reviews (Ofsted, 2011; Sidebotham et al., 2016). A 'both-and' approach is instead proposed by some commentators (Philip et al., 2019; Rivett, 2010), which accommodates the dual identity of fathers who perpetrate DVA, to better enable practitioners to assess, manage and minimise the risk to children. It also provides increased opportunities to engage with fathers to change their harmful behaviours (Maxwell, Scourfield, Featherstone, et al., 2012; Strega et al., 2008), particularly considering they may continue their abusive behaviours in any new relationships. The parenting knowledge and capabilities of fathers who are abusive are also typically underdeveloped thereby further substantiating the need for greater focus on men in families (Heward-Belle et al., 2019).

#### Social worker barriers and challenges when working with people who perpetrate DVA

Social workers are uniquely situated to hold people who perpetrate DVA in families to account within the context of their child protection work. However, they report encountering a range of barriers and challenges when working with this group of people (Donovan & Griffiths, 2015; Stanley et al., 2012). These challenges are complex, and can occur at systemic, organisation and or individual levels (Olszowy et al., 2020). A substantial barrier to working with people for harm in families which is replete in the literature, rests with the fact that many social workers, particularly women, regard it as a highly uncertain and fear-inducing area of practice. This is primarily due to the risks associated with engaging violent perpetrators of abuse, both for themselves as workers, as well as for the adult and child victim-survivors they are supporting (Bateson et al., 2017; Ewart-Boyle et al., 2015; Brid Featherstone, 2017; Humphreys et al., 2020; Maxwell, Scourfield, Featherstone, et al., 2012; Olszowy et al., 2020). These concerns coalesce with workers' anxieties regarding their ability to ensure the safety of all family members, fears that engagement with the person causing harm might present an obstacle to engagement with victim-survivors, as well as, concerns rooted in workers' own experiences of violence or abuse in some cases (Brid Featherstone, 2017).

Social workers also describe the difficulties of working in a system in which dominant policy and practice paradigms emphasise the role of the mother as 'primary protector' (Mirick, 2014; Olszowy et al., 2020). Gendered discourses of parenting further embed this construction of the mother (Sinnott & Artz, 2016), with research conducted with social work practitioners corroborating the need for a gender-sensitive approach which incorporates a recognition of the contrasting expectations, sanctions, constraints and opportunities available to, and placed on, women and men as regards to their parenting (Philip et al., 2019). Other studies signal that a lack of adequate resource (including longer-term capacity building across the workforce) in order to implement and sustain meaningful organisational culture or practice change means that workers tend to revert back to holding mothers to account for managing DVA in the family (Ferguson et al., 2020; Wild, 2020).

Together these challenges strongly underscore the need for more specialist learning and development opportunities, as well as confidence building, for social workers in this area of practice (Humphreys et al., 2018). In addition to better equipping workers to engage with people who perpetrate DVA in families, evidence also suggests that when social work practitioners are adequately supported and trained to 'hear' perpetrators of DVA in the context of child protection work, it can create opportunities for them to validate and foreground women's experience of DVA (Heward-Belle et al., 2019). There are examples of training being delivered in this context, such as the SafeLives cultural change programme for those working in social care. An evaluation of the programme evidenced the substantial impact the training had in the way social care practitioners think and act as regards to DVA (SafeLives, 2020a). The Make a Change (MAC) intervention, discussed earlier, offers the 'Recognise, Respond, Refer (RRR)' training to improve domestic abuse awareness among practitioners in public, voluntary and private sector organisations. An evaluation of the training indicated significant improvements in attendees' confidence in terms of their understanding of DVA, as well as in their ability to raise concerns regarding abusive behaviours (Callaghan et al., 2020, p.6).

The Safe & Together institute, discussed in a forthcoming section, also provides a suite of tools and strategies which can be utilised by both statutory and non-statutory practitioners engaging in child protection work with families where DVA is an issue of concern (Healey et al., 2018). Humphreys and colleagues (2020, pp. 22-24) worked with professionals in Communities of Practice, supported by the Safe & Together institute, to map the support social care practitioners require from their organisations, in order to develop and enhance their practice with people perpetrate DVA in families, particularly considering the lack of clear guidance in this area of practice. The authors emphasise that the tasks of shifting attention onto perpetrators of DVA, and of partnering *with* victim-survivors, requires substantial organisational change. It also requires robust leadership, support and advocacy from senior management, who occupy a critical role in creating and mobilising the 'levers for practice change' in this context.

#### Key messages

- Mothers are disproportionality held to account for DVA in families, with far too little focus placed on addressing the perpetrator of DVA and his behaviours, in child protection social work.
- Research provides compelling justification for working with men who perpetrate DVA in families in children's social care settings, not only to improve safety outcomes for mother and child victim-survivors, but also to hold perpetrators of DVA to account for their abuse.
- Fathers are often absent in children's social care proceedings, and are not routinely contacted or engaged during proceedings. This further embeds the responsibility assigned to victim-survivors, and reasserts a harmful victim-blaming narrative in circumstances of DVA.
- Social workers encounter a range of barriers and challenges when working with people who perpetrate DVA in families. It can be an uncertain or fear-inducing area of practice and the workforce are often ill-equipped to respond appropriately to families in which there is a perpetrator of DVA.
- There is a need for more nuanced, specialised and comprehensive opportunities for learning and development for the social care workforce, coupled with the senior management leadership and organisational support necessary to facilitate change by refocusing attention away from victim-survivors and onto perpetrators of DVA in families.
- Changing the way families in which there is a perpetrator of DVA are supported requires a fundamental shift in the ways in which DVA is understood by practitioners, as well as in relation to the impact it has upon all members of the family – including the perpetrator. Safe & Together and SafeLives' Culture Change Programme both offer key points of learning in this area.

# 13. Whole family practice approaches for work with people who perpetrate DVA

Whole family interventions have emerged over the last decade or so, particularly in the UK, Australia and the United States. They share the common goal of engaging all family members, including those that harm, in families in which there is a perpetrator of DVA. The introduction of whole family approaches more generally in the UK has coincided with the earlier 'troubled families' agenda, which precipitated renewed service initiatives and policy focus on families with higher levels of need (Morris, 2013). The 'troubled families' programme (now named 'Supporting Families') was expanded in 2014 to include families in which DVA was a feature (Stanley & Humphreys, 2017).

The move towards whole family interventions has caused some concern, with opponents arguing that they fail to address or account for the gendered nature of DVA, as well as the power dynamics among differently positioned members of the family (Stanley & Humphreys, 2017). However, whole family approaches seek to redress the imbalance regarding the management of risk in families, which is typically placed on the non-abusing parent, as well as to hold perpetrators of abuse to account. There are also several examples of whole family approaches which explicitly engage with a gendered framing of DVA; the two are not necessarily antithetical, as some of the forthcoming examples illustrate.

One such example is the SafeLives whole picture strategy, which locates a whole family response within a risk-led model which incorporates work to address the needs, and rebuild the wellbeing, of every member of the family, including those that are perpetrating the abuse (SafeLives, 2020b). This approach underscores the need for effective risk assessment for each member of the family, in individual circumstances, and tailoring responses to meet their needs, in line with that risk. There is an emphasis on seeing the whole person, as well as supporting people earlier and in more suitable, sustainable ways, and taking into account the contextual and systemic issues, such as those discussed earlier.

Recent independent evaluation of three whole family programmes in England suggests that there is a growing need and demand for whole family approaches to address DVA, which considers the needs of the whole family, in the wider context in which the DVA occurs. Authors assert that the success of whole family intervention is likely to rely upon an approach that is multi-layered in so far as it works with families, couples and individuals, is multi-disciplinary, multi-agency and one that operates across a range of settings including within homes, schools and healthcare settings (Boxford, Nickson, et al., 2020, p. 5).

#### Examples of whole family practice approaches and models

There is a diverse and growing range of practice models which fit into the 'whole family' category of intervention, including the following examples:

#### Family Safeguarding Model

The Family Safeguarding model represents a whole-systems reform of dominant local authority child protection approaches. It brings together all the professionals working with a family in one multidisciplinary team (MDT) including specialist adult workers with expertise in substance use, mental health and DVA. The model was first delivered in Hertfordshire (Sanders et al., 2020), and has since been implemented in four other local authorities across England. It uses motivational, strengths-based practice approaches to address compounding issues of DVA, parental substance use and parental mental health. The model facilitates an approach to DVA which focuses on supporting both adult and child victim-survivors, as well as offer interventions to support perpetrators of DVA to change behaviours.

Evidence following independent evaluation (Rodger et al., 2020; Sanders et al., 2020) indicates that it is effective in preventing children from being looked after and for reducing the numbers on child protection plans. These findings coincide with a reduction in police call-outs and in frequency of mental health crisis contacts. Evaluation data also indicated an ongoing demand for perpetrator support and intervention.

#### For baby's sake

*For baby's sake* whole family perinatal early intervention (Domoney et al., 2019; Domoney & Trevillion, 2020) works with parents from pregnancy to two years postpartum, with the dual aim of disrupting cycles of DVA and enabling better outcomes for children. Infant mental health is a central focus. It was first launched in 2015 in two English community settings. The programme combines DVA trauma-informed intervention, mental health and attachment-focused parenting support for both parents. It utilises a strengths-based model which responds to adverse childhood experiences and trauma among parents, and aims to promote emotional self-regulation. Evaluations of the programme highlight the associations between mental health and experiences of domestic abuse (Domoney et al., 2019) and substantiate the benefits of an individualised approach specific to each family (Kings College London & The Stefanou Foundation, 2019).

#### **Growing Futures**

Doncaster's *Growing Futures* mobilises a whole family approach, as well as a typology-based conceptualisation of DVA. The programme convenes multiple agencies across the community and a key component of the model is the Domestic Abuse Navigator (DAN) role (Boxford, King, et al., 2020). The programme uses a partnership approach informed by Hester's (2011) 'three planet' model to address historically disjointed, poorly collaborated practice, across services working to respond to victim-survivors, perpetrators of abuse and children and young people in Doncaster.

An initial evaluation was conducted from 2015 to 2016 (McCracken et al., 2017) and assessed the impact on services and families of the Growing Futures' domestic abuse navigators (DANs). It found that the DANs facilitated a more trusting relationship between families and professionals and improved multiagency working in the context of a whole family approach. A second longitudinal follow-up evaluation (Boxford, King, et al., 2020) assessed the longer-term outcomes associated with the model. It found it had a sustained impact on the services received by children and families, while the whole family approach it espouses was sustained and impacted positively on family members.

#### 28 Working with people who perpetrate domestic violence and abuse in families - Summary report

#### Newham NewDAy programme

Following a typology informed understanding and analysis of DVA, Newham *NewDAy* is non-statutory service available to families in which there is situational violence not connected with controlling behaviour. The multi-disciplinary, collaborative programme was developed in response to high levels of domestic abuse in children's social care cases in the local authority, and which required specialist intervention. The programme uses a model that is non-judgmental and consent based thereby departing from statutory or court mandated responses. It consists of four key elements including: short-term intervention for all members of the family including children, victim-survivor and perpetrator; the Caring Dads programme for the perpetrator of DVA; systemic sessions with both parents; and school-focused support for children and young people. An evaluation of the programme indicated positive impact on outcomes for children and young people with a reduction in risk of harm, as well as positive outcomes for victim-survivors. It also indicated increased confidence among social care practitioners, as well as a change in culture among professionals working with families in which there was a perpetrator of DVA (Langdon-Shreeve et al., 2020).

#### **Opening Closed Doors**

*Barnardo's Opening Closed Doors* programme was established in 2019 in five Welsh local authorities, in order to support children and families experiencing DVA, with an emphasis on helping to recover and build sustainable change. It takes a holistic approach to working with families, incorporating three strands of intervention: integrated women's support, Safety Trust and Respect programme for children and young people, and a Domestic abuse perpetrator programme (Institute of Public Care, 2020). Cohering with findings from other studies, an evaluation of *Opening Closed Doors* cited the whole family approach as crucial to tailoring interventions to the needs of each family member, without losing sight of the whole family picture (Institute of Public Care, 2020).

#### Oranje Huis

*Oranje Huis* (Orange House) from the Netherlands offers an alternative whole family approach, situated within the refuge sector (de Jong, 2016). The Orange House model involves the provision of support within an 'open' setting at a closed location, in contrast to the typical refuge set-up which operates a strict secrecy policy. It also involves the whole family, wherever possible. This includes working therapeutically with the perpetrator of abuse, and facilitating contact between fathers who perpetrate abuse, and their children. Cohering with other whole family models of working, Orange House, places a strong emphasis on parenting and the needs of the child. It also offers an integrated model of support with a range of services to support women and children experiencing DVA, all under one roof (Blijf Groep, 2020).

#### Safe & Together™

An increasingly prominent whole family approach is the *Safe & Together™* model (Bocioaga, 2019; Humphreys et al., 2018; Meyer, 2018) which has now been implemented across various locations in the UK. The model exemplifies a perpetrator pattern-based approach, and was first developed in North America, as part of the Greenbook Initiative (Mandel & Wright, 2019). It frames domestic abuse as a negative parenting choice and challenges the 'failure to protect' paradigm referred to earlier. Using a strengths-based approach, it promotes an alliance with the non-abusive parent, and recognises the strategies implemented by the non-abusive parent to manage risk and safety in the context of DVA. It also responds to intersectional considerations such as race, class and sexuality, and the ways these inform notions of vulnerability and power. It also attends to the intersections with substance use and mental health (Safe & Together Institute, 2020). A range of sources evidence outcomes associated with the Safe & together approach in practice (Bocioaga, 2019; J. Scott, 2019). These include improved assessment practices among child protection and specialist domestic abuse services in Australia (Humphreys et al., 2018). Evaluations of the model implemented in multiple US states (Safe & Together institute, 2018) indicated various outcomes in relation to workforce practices, including; attitudinal change and a reduction in victim-blame, better screening and assessment of coercive control, better partnering with adult victim-survivors, increased attention on perpetrator engagement, and improved assessment and recording of the impact of perpetrator behaviour on children (Safe & Together institute, 2018).

#### Steps to Safety

Steps to Safety is a whole family early intervention developed by the NSPCC in conjunction with the University of Oxford and the University of South Florida (Mcmillan & Barlow, 2019). Delivered by NSPCC social workers, it aims to respond holistically to families, while recognising multiple adversities. It is designed to stop 'reactive violence' among both same-gender and heterosexual couples who are expecting a child, or those with a child aged under five. The model applies to couples in which one or both partners are using violence in the context of escalating conflict, and in circumstances where there is no evidence of coercive control. It requires some evidence of a desire to change. This is a requirement in other whole family interventions, prior to any work commencing with the family (Margolis et al., 2020). Steps to Safety, like other whole family intervention, emphasises robust assessment and screening processes which are attuned to the complex risks associated with couples interventions in circumstances of domestic abuse.

# 14. Measuring outcomes

There are notable and ongoing challenges with the evaluation of perpetrator interventions and the measurement of outcomes for domestic violence perpetrator programmes is somewhat fragmented therefore making it difficult to conclusively assert 'what works' and what does not (Bohall et al., 2016; Callaghan et al., 2020; L. Hamilton et al., 2013; Miles & De Claire, 2018). This lack of consensus primarily arises from variations in methodological and analytical approach, the interpretation of data, and a lack of agreement around what constitutes 'success' (Westmarland et al., 2010). Studies relating to perpetrator work are also often conducted with smaller samples, reflecting low prosecution rates and underreporting, thereby making it difficult to generalise findings, or to ascertain impact on specific population groups (0. Brooks et al., 2014).

Lilley-Walker and colleagues (2018) assert, following an extensive evaluation of European programmes, that in order to better understand how far perpetrator programmes lead to positive change, and in order to make comparisons across different programme approaches and populations, the data gathered during evaluation processes must be more standardised. This study coheres with other research which cements the need for the development of perpetrator interventions which are evidence-informed and empirically tested (Babcock et al., 2016; Cannon, Hamel, et al., 2020; Devaney & Lazenbatt, 2016; Hamel, 2020; Lilley-Walker et al., 2018; McGinn et al., 2016; Radatz & Wright, 2016).

#### Outcomes for adult and child victim-survivors

There is evidence of positive outcomes for victim-survivors following a (ex)partner's completion of a DVPP or other perpetrator intervention, documented in studies conducted in the UK and elsewhere (Hayward et al., 2008; McGinn et al., 2016; Westmarland et al., 2010; Westwood et al., 2020). One of the most important and robust evaluations foregrounding the views and experiences of victim-survivors is Project Mirabal (Westmarland & Kelly, 2015). It suggests significant and wide-ranging outcomes for victim-survivor children and adults across various key indicators, with authors emphasising that the success of the programmes evaluated was bolstered by the fact that they were targeted, and delivered in a manner that retained service integrity (W. Hughes, 2017).

Following the Mirabal evaluation, Westmarland and colleagues (2010) argue for a more expansive understanding of what constitutes 'success' which extends beyond the cessation of violence, particularly considering the (continued) presence of coercive control (Westmarland et al., 2010; Westmarland & Kelly, 2013), including in the lives of children (Katz, 2016). The six indicators they identified were as follows:

- 1. A better relationship between men on programmes and their (ex)partners, in which there was more effective communication and respect.
- 2. (Ex)partners had more 'space for action', which enabled them to have their voices heard as well as make choices, while also improving their wellbeing.
- 3. Women and children were safer and had more freedom from violence and abuse.
- 4. Safe, positive and shared parenting.
- 5. Men on programmes developed an awareness of self and others, which included understanding the impact DVA had on their partner and children.
- 6. Children had healthier childhoods in which they felt heard and cared about.

This research from Westmarland and colleagues, as well as subsequent studies which map outcomes achieved for (ex)partners of people on programmes, strongly underscores the imperative of incorporating data from victim-survivors, including those of children, in the design and evaluation of the efficacy of perpetrator interventions (Lilley-Walker et al., 2018; S. A. Morgan et al., 2019). Incorporation of views from these groups can not only inform form and content, but can also harness vital information regarding women's perceptions of risk in order to inform future safety measures(Dichter & Gelles, 2012). Incorporating these voices also has the potential to create opportunities for victim-survivor 'feedback loops' regarding individual perpetrators of DVA, and for the development of tailored perpetrator interventions (Westwood et al., 2020).

While the task of meaningfully incorporating the voices of adult and child victim-survivors entails additional layers of complexity and substantial ethical considerations, it yields invaluable benefit. It does, however, remain an underdeveloped area of research (Westwood et al., 2020). Furthermore, there is added value in triangulating this data with broader outcomes monitoring data, as well as with data produced with people enrolled on perpetrator programmes (McGinn et al., 2019, 2020), thereby underscoring the concomitant need to incorporate multiple measures and sources for the robust evaluation of perpetrator approaches and programming.

#### Key messages

- What constitutes 'success' or 'effective' practice with perpetrators of DVA is fragmented, underscoring the need for greater consistency in understanding regarding what constitutes efficacy, across the full range of services working to address perpetrators of DVA.
- It is imperative to measure outcomes and to evaluate services using methods that capture the views and lived experiences of adult and child victim-survivors, particularly of children and (ex) partners of people on perpetrator programmes. There is also substantial value in incorporating these views in the design and formulation of perpetrator intervention content, wherever possible. This is an underdeveloped area, demanding further research.
- There is a need to incorporate the views of people from marginalised or minoritised communities in particular, in line with the intersectional approach discussed elsewhere in this rapid review.
- Limited or fragmented evidence does not equate to evidence of ineffectiveness, and there are a number of existing approaches and emerging developments bearing significant promise, as set out in this rapid review.
- There is a collective and shared responsibility across multiple agencies, policy and commissioning arenas to work towards expanding the evidence base in a manner that foregrounds the perspectives and voices of adult and child victim-survivors.

# 15. Conclusion

A review of the literature from across a range of disciplines substantiates the need to retain a range of approaches and programmes to address the behaviours and needs of perpetrators of DVA, in order to improve outcomes for adult and child victim-survivors. There is a clear case to be made for approaches which rely upon multi-sectoral engagement and collaboration, particularly when it comes to work with families in which there are children. In practice this means ensuring that there is cross-agency working across adult and children's social care, mental health services, police, probation, housing services and substance use provision (where applicable), with interventions undertaken with perpetrators of abuse occurring in tandem with those of victim-survivor support provision. It is also beneficial to retain a focus on Respect (2017) accreditation, as well as upon safe, effective and victim-survivor focused practice.

The available evidence strongly points to the value of a coordinated, community-based, needs-led approach which informs how families are supported, and which extends to all members of the family. The associations (*not* causal links) between mental health, substance use and domestic abuse perpetration are strongly indicated in the data, underscoring the need to diversify and improve the response to people who perpetrate DVA, and to mobilise opportunities for earlier intervention within the context of general practice, mental health and substance use treatment settings, as well as to foster better links between these providers and adults' and children's social care.

Research evidence strongly underscores the need to reform current children's social work practice paradigms so that the responsibility and onus for protecting children and reducing harm is situated with the person causing harm in families, rather than on victim-survivors. Work with fathers who perpetrate abuse has key implications for policy and practice within the domains of child protection, so that greater efforts are made to hold fathers who perpetrate DVA to account for their behaviour. Social workers are uniquely placed to hold perpetrators of abuse to account, but research suggests this is best undertaken as part of a multi-agency coordinated approach, and with appropriate learning and development opportunities for the social care workforce. This is particularly important given the substantial challenges and barriers encountered by social workers in this complex area of practice.

The literature points to a lack of consensus regarding 'what works' as well as heterogeneity in programmes, approaches, and in the monitoring and evaluation of perpetrator services. There is therefore a case to further develop research in this area, with a specific emphasis on the design and delivery of perpetrator programmes which are evidence-informed, empirically tested, and which routinely incorporate and foreground the voices and perspectives of victim-survivor adults and children, particularly (ex)partners of men on programmes. There is valuable learning from the current research base, and the fragmentation or absence of evidence relating to some aspects of perpetrator intervention does not equate to negative outcomes. Indeed, there are a number of well-established and long-standing approaches and programmes, in addition to new and emerging initiatives, bearing significant promise, as discussed throughout this review. Several of these are applicable for work with families who come to the attention of children's social care. Many indicate positive outcomes for adult and child victim-survivors, as well as substantive behaviour change among perpetrators of DVA. There remains a shared responsibility across services, commissioners, funders, policy-makers and the academic community to improve and expand this evolving and dynamic evidence base in a manner that continues to centre the needs and perspectives of victim-survivors.

# 16. Bibliography

Aaron, S. M., & Beaulaurier, R. L. (2017). The Need for New Emphasis on Batterers Intervention Programs. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse, 18*(4), 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838015622440

Abdalla Ballela, M. (2016). Challenging domestic abuse in the arabic speaking community: The experience of alaman. In *Moving in the Shadows: Violence in the Lives of Minority Women and Children* (pp. 261–265). Taylor and Francis.

Adisa, O., & Allen, K. (2020). Increasing safety for those experiencing family and intimate relationship harm within black and minority ethnic communities by responding to those who harm: Survey findings (Issue August). https:// www.uos.ac.uk/content/suffolk-institute-for-socialeconomic-research

Akoensi, T. D., Koehler, J. A., Lösel, F., Humphreys, D. K., T.D., A., J.A., K., & F., L. (2013). Domestic Violence Perpetrator Programs in Europe, Part II: A Systematic Review of the State of Evidence. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *57*(10), 1206–1225.

#### https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X12468110

Alderson, S., Westmarland, N., & Kelly, L. (2013). The Need for Accountability to, and Support for, Children of Men on Domestic Violence Perpetrator Programmes. *Child Abuse Review*, 22(3), 182–193. https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2223

Alexander-Floyd, N. G. (2012). Disappearing Acts: Reclaiming Intersectionality in the Social Sciences in a Post-Black Feminist Era. *Feminist Formations*, 24(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1353/ff.2012.0003

Ali, P. A., Dhingra, K., & McGarry, J. (2016). A literature review of intimate partner violence and its classifications. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *31*, 16–25.

#### https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2016.06.008

Andrews, S., Gallant, D., Humphreys, C., Ellis, D., Bamblett, A., Briggs, R., & Harrison, W. (2018). Holistic programme developments and responses to Aboriginal men who use violence against women. In *International Social Work*, 64(1), 59-73.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872818807272

Arce, R., Arias, E., Novo, M., & Fariña, F. (2020). Are Interventions with Batterers Effective? A Meta-analytical Review. *Psychosocial Intervention*, *29*(3), 153–164. https://doi.org/10.5093/Pl2020A11

Babcock, J., Armenti, N., Cannon, C., Lauve-Moon, K., Buttell, F., Ferreira, R., Cantos, A., Hamel, J., Kelly, D., Jordan, C., Lehmann, P., Leisring, P. A., Murphy, C., O'Leary, K. D., Bannon, S., Salis, K. L., & Solano, I. (2016). Domestic Violence Perpetrator Programs: A Proposal for Evidence-Based Standards in the United States. *Partner Abuse*, 7(4), 355–460. https://doi.org/10.1891/1946-6560.7.4.355

Barnes, R., & Donovan, C. (2016). Developing Interventions for Abusive Partners in Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and / or Transgender Relationships. In S. Hilder and V. Bettison (Eds), *Domestic Violence: Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Protection, Prevention and Intervention* (pp. 297–320). Palgrave Macmillan.

Barrett, B. J., & Sheridan, D. V. (2017). Partner Violence in Transgender Communities: What Helping Professionals Need to Know. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, *13*(2), 137–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2016.1187104

Bates, E. A., Graham-Kevan, N., Bolam, L. T., & Thornton, A. J. V. (2017). A Review of Domestic Violence Perpetrator Programs in the United Kingdom. *Partner Abuse*, 8(1), 3-46. https://doi.org/10.1891/1946-6560.8.1.3

Bateson, K., Darwin, Z., Galdas, P., & Rosan, C. (2017). Engaging fathers: Acknowledging the barriers. *Journal* of Health Visiting, 5(3), 126–132. https://doi.org/10.12968/johv.2017.5.3.126

Benbow, S. M., Bhattacharyya, S., & Kingston, P. (2019). Older adults and violence: An analysis of Domestic Homicide Reviews in England involving adults over 60 years of age. *Ageing and Society*, *39*(6), 1097–1121. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X17001386 Berry, V., Stanley, N., Radford, L., Mccarry, M., & Larkins, C. (2014). Building Effective Responses: An Independent Review of Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Services in Wales. In *Welsh Government Social Research*.

#### http://clok.uclan.ac.uk/10728/1/140430-violence-against-women-domestic-abuse-sexual-violence-services-FULL report EN.pdf

Bhavsar, V., Kirkpatrick, K., Calcia, M., & Howard, L. M. (2020). Lockdown, domestic abuse perpetration, and mental health care: gaps in training, research, and policy. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 8(3), 172-174.

#### https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30397-7

Bland, M., & Ariel, B. (2015). Targeting Escalation in Reported Domestic Abuse: Evidence From 36,000 Callouts. *International Criminal Justice Review*, *25*(1), 30–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/1057567715574382

Blijf Groep. (2020). *De Oranje Huis Aanpak.* https://www.blijfgroep.nl/artikelen/oranje-huis-aanpak/

Bloomfield, S., & Dixon, L. (2015). An outcome evaluation of the Integrated Domestic Abuse Programme (IDAP) and Community Domestic Violence Programme (CDVP). *Analytical Summary*, 7.

#### https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/outcome-evaluation-of-idap-and-cdvp

Bocioaga, A. (2019). Evidence on the Safe & together approach: ESSS Outline. 12.

http://www.scie-socialcareonline.org.uk/evidence-on-thesafe-and-together-approach-esss-outline/r/a116f00000UhqfpAAB

Bohall, G., Bautista, M.-J. J., & Musson, S. (2016). Intimate Partner Violence and the Duluth Model: An Examination of the Model and Recommendations for Future Research and Practice. *Journal of Family Violence*, *31*(8), 1029–1033. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-016-9888-x

Boxford, S., King, Y., Bridger-wilkinson, E., Jones, H., Shomali, M., & Southern-wilkins, E. (2020). *Longitudinal follow up evaluation of Growing Futures* (Issue January). https://www.cordisbright.co.uk/admin/resources/longitudinaldoncastergrowingfutures.pdf Boxford, S., Nickson, H., & Horsewell, C. (2020). Whole family domestic abuse programmes: six lessons learned An analysis from recent evaluations of Department for Education Children's Social Care Innovation Programme projects. *Cordis Bright*.

https://www.cordisbright.co.uk/admin/resources/wholefamily-domestic-abuse-programmes-six-lessons-learned.pdf

Broady, T. R., Gray, R., Gaffney, I., & Lewis, P. (2017). 'I Miss My Little One A Lot': How Father Love Motivates Change in Men Who Have Used Violence. *Child Abuse Review*, *26*(5), 328–338.

#### https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2381

Brooks, D., Wirtz, A. L., Celentano, D., Beyrer, C., Hailey-Fair, K., & Arrington-Sanders, R. (2021). Gaps in Science and Evidence-Based Interventions to Respond to Intimate Partner Violence Among Black Gay and Bisexual Men in the U.S.: A Call for an Intersectional Social Justice Approach. *Sexuality & Culture, 25*, 306-317.

#### https://doi.org/10.1007/s12119-020-09769-7

Brooks, O., Burman, M., Lombard, N., Mcivor, G., Stevenson-Hastings, L., & Kyle, D. (2014). Violence against women: effective interventions and practices with perpetrators A literature review Violence against women: effective interventions with perpetrators.

https://www.sccjr.ac.uk/publications/violence-against-women-effective-interventions-and-practices-with-perpetrators/

Brown, T., & Hampson, R. (2009). An Evaluation of Interventions with Domestic Violence Perpetrators. In *The Family Violence Prevention Foundation of Australia* (Issue January 2009).

#### https://violencefreefamilies.org.au/an-evaluation-of-interventions/

Butters, R. P., Droubay, B. A., Seawright, J. L., Tollefson, D. R., Lundahl, B., & Whitaker, L. (2020). Intimate Partner Violence Perpetrator Treatment: Tailoring Interventions to Individual Needs. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, *49*, 391-404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10615-020-00763-y

Callaghan, J., Morran, D., Alexander, J., Bellussi, L., Beetham, T., & Hooper, J. (2020). Make a Change. University of Stirling, Centre for Child Wellbeing and Protection. Cannon, C., Ferreira, R. J., & Buttell, F. (2020). Critical Race Theory, Parenting, and Intimate Partner Violence: Analyzing Race and Gender. Research on Social Work Practice, 30(1), 122–134.

https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1049731518772151

Cannon, C., Hamel, J., Buttell, F., & Ferreira, R. J. (2020). The Pursuit of Research-supported Treatment in Batterer Intervention: The Role of Professional Licensure and Theoretical Orientation for Duluth and CBT Programs. *Journal of Evidence-Based Social Work (United States)*, 17(4), 469–485.

https://doi.org/10.1080/26408066.2020.1775744

Cavanaugh, M. M., & Gelles, R. J. (2005). The Utility of Male Domestic Violence Offender Typologies: New Directions for Research, Policy, and Practice. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 20(2), 155–166. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260504268763

Chantler, K., Robbins, R., Baker, V., & Stanley, N. (2020). Learning from domestic homicide reviews in England and Wales. *Health and Social Care in the Community*, *28*(2), 485–493. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12881

Chavis, A. Z., & Hill, M. S. (2008). Integrating Multiple Intersecting Identities: A Multicultural Conceptualization of the Power and Control Wheel. *Women and Therapy*, 32(1), 121–149. https://doi.org/10.1080/02703140802384552

Children's Commissioner. (2020). Briefing: Children, domestic abuse and coronavirus. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-and-domestic-abuse

Chimba, M., de Villiers, T., Davey, D., & Khan, A. (2012). Protecting Black and Minority Ethnic Children: An Investigation of Child Protection Interventions. Cardiff: BAWSO.

Cleaver, K., Maras, P., Oram, C., & McCallum, K. (2019). A review of UK based multi-agency approaches to early intervention in domestic abuse: Lessons to be learnt from existing evaluation studies. *Aggression and Violent Behavior, 46,* 140–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2019.02.005

College of Policing. (2015). Evidence for impact of domestic violence perpetrator programmes. http://whatworks.college.police.uk/Research/Systematic\_Review\_Series/Documents/Perpetrator\_programmes commentary.pdf Cordis Bright. (2019). What works in delivering Domestic Abuse Perpetrator Programmes? Key terms. *Evidence Reviews*.

https://www.cordisbright.co.uk/admin/resources/09-evidence-reviews-dapps.pdf

Corvo, K., Dutton, D., & Chen, W.-Y. (2008). Toward Evidence-Based Practice with Domestic Violence Perpetrators. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment and Trauma*, *16*(2), 111–130. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi. org/10.1080/10926770801921246

Corvo, K., Dutton, D., & Chen, W.-Y. (2009). Do Duluth Model Interventions With Perpetrators of Domestic Violence Violate Mental Health Professional Ethics? *Ethics & Behavior, 19*(4), 323–340.

Cox, P., McPherson, S., Mason, C., Ryan, M., & Baxter, V. (2020). Reducing Recurrent Care Proceedings: Building a Local Evidence Base in England. *Societies*, *10*(4), 88.

#### https://doi.org/10.3390/soc10040088

Coy, M., Perks, K., Scott, E., & Tweedale, R. (2012). *Picking up the pieces: domestic violence and child contact*. Rights of Women.

https://rightsofwomen.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/Picking\_Up\_the\_Pieces\_Report-2012l.pdf

Coy, M., Scott, E., Tweedale, R., & Perks, K. (2015). 'It's like going through the abuse again': domestic violence and women and children's (un)safety in private law contact proceedings. *Journal of Social Welfare and Family Law*, *37*(1), 53–69.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09649069.2015.1004863

Coy, M., Thiara, R., Kelly, L., & Phillips, R. (2011). Into the Foreground: an Evaluation of the Jacana Parenting Programme. London Metropolitan University, CWASU.

CQC, Ofsted, HMICFRS, & HMP. (2017). The multi-agency response to children living with domestic abuse. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/jointinspections-of-the-response-to-children-living-withdomestic-abuse

Cramp, K. J., & Zufferey, C. (2020). The Removal of Children in Domestic Violence: Widening Service Provider Perspectives. *Affilia*, *36*(3), 088610992095442. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109920954422 Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, *1989*, 139–167.

## https://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/uclf/vol1989/ iss1/8

Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. *Stanford Law Review*, *43*(6), 1241–1299. https://doi.org/10.2307/1229039

Crowley, L. (2017). Domestic violence perpetrator programmes in Ireland – Intervention required! International Journal of Law, Policy and the Family, 31(3), 291–310.

## https://doi.org/10.1093/lawfam/ebx010

Davies, P. (2018). Tackling domestic abuse locally: paradigms, ideologies and the political tensions of multi-agency working. *Journal of Gender-Based Violence*, 2(3), 429-446.

# https://doi.org/10.1332/239868018x15392672654573

Davies, P. A., & Biddle, P. (2018). Implementing a perpetrator-focused partnership approach to tackling domestic abuse: The opportunities and challenges of criminal justice localism. *Criminology and Criminal Justice*, *18*(4), 468–487.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895817734590

Davis, M., Jonson-Reid, M., Dahm, C., Fernandez, B., Stoops, C., & Sabri, B. (2020). The Men's Group at St. Pius V: A Case Study of a Parish-Based Voluntary Partner Abuse Intervention Program. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 14(1).

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988319891287

Day, A. S., & Gill, A. K. (2020). Applying intersectionality to partnerships between women's organizations and the criminal justice system in relation to domestic violence. *The British Journal of Criminology*, *60*(4), 830–850.

## https://doi.org/10.1093/BJC/AZAA003

de Jong, M. (2016). Oranje Huis (the Netherlands). De Puy, J., Abt, M., & Romain-Glassey, N. (2017). Coping with multiple adversities: Men who sought medicolegal care because of physical violence from a partner or ex-partner. *Psychology of Violence*, 7(3), 428–439. https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000101 Devaney, J. (2009). Children's Exposure to Domestic Violence: Holding Men to Account. *The Political Quarterly*, *80*(4), 569–574. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-923X.2009.02050.x

Devaney, J. (2014). Male perpetrators of domestic violence: How should we hold them to account? *Political Quarterly*, *85*(4), 480–486. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-923X.12111

Devaney, J., & Lazenbatt, A. (2016). Domestic violence perpetrators: Evidence-informed responses. In *Domestic Violence Perpetrators: Evidence-Informed Responses*. Taylor and Francis Inc. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315781082

Dichter, M., & Gelles, R. (2012). Women's Perceptions of Safety and Risk Following Police Intervention for Intimate Partner Violence. *Violence against Women*, *18*(1), 44–63.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801212437016

Diemer, K., Humphreys, C., Fogden, L., Gallant, D., Spiteri-Staines, A., Bornemisza, A., & Vercoe, E. (2020). *Caring Dads Evaluation Three Site Independent Evaluation* 2017-2020 Final Report. University of Melbourne.

Dobash, R. P., & Dobash, R. E. (2000). Changing violent men. In *Changing violent men*. Sage Publications.

Domoney, J., Fulton, E., Stanley, N., McIntyre, A., Heslin, M., Byford, S., Bick, D., Ramchandani, P., MacMillan, H., Howard, L. M., & Trevillion, K. (2019). *For Baby's Sake:* Intervention Development and Evaluation Design of a Whole-Family Perinatal Intervention to Break the Cycle of Domestic Abuse. *Journal of Family Violence*, *34*(6), 539–551.

# https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-019-00037-3

Domoney, J., & Trevillion, K. (2020). Breaking the cycle of intergenerational abuse: A qualitative interview study of men participating in a perinatal program to reduce violence. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 42(2), 206-221. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21886

Donovan, C., & Barnes, R. (2017). Domestic violence and abuse in lesbian, gay, bisexual and / or transgender (LGB and / or T) relationships. *Sexualities*, 22(5–6), 741–750.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/1363460716681491

Donovan, C., & Barnes, R. (2019a). Re-tangling the concept of coercive control: A view from the margins and a response to Walby and Towers (2018). *Criminology and Criminal Justice*,21(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895819864622

Donovan, C., & Barnes, R. (2019b). Making sense of discourses of sameness and difference in agency responses to abusive LGB and / or T partners. *Sexualities*, 22(5-6), 785-802. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363460716665787

Donovan, C., Barnes, R., & Nixon, C. (2014). *The Coral Project: Exploring Abusive Behaviours in Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and / or Transgender Relationships Interim Report.* University of Sunderland and University of Leicester.

Donovan, C., & Griffiths, S. (2015). Domestic Violence and Voluntary Perpetrator Programmes: Engaging Men in the Pre-Commencement Phase. *British Journal of Social Work*, 45(4), 1155–1171. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bct182

Donovan, C., & Hester, M. (2014). *Domestic violence and sexuality: what's love got to do with it?* Policy Press. Downes, J., Kelly, L., & Westmarland, N. (2019). 'It's a work in progress': men's accounts of gender and change in their use of coercive control. *Journal of Gender-Based Violence*, 3(3), 267–282. https://doi.org/10.1332/239868019X15627570242850

Dragiewicz, M., Burgess, J., Matamoros-Fernández, A., Salter, M., Suzor, N. P., Woodlock, D., & Harris, B. (2018). Technology facilitated coercive control: domestic violence and the competing roles of digital media platforms. *Feminist Media Studies*, *18*(4), 609–625.

## https://doi.org/10.1080/14680777.2018.1447341

DVIP. (2012). Al-Aman evaluation 2008-12. www.dvip.org

Dziewa, A., & Glowacz, F. (2018). Intimate partner violence and public policies: The paradigm of desistance for the management of intimate partner violence batterers. *Revue Internationale de Criminologie et de Police Technique et Scientifique*, 71(4), 474-482. https://www.scopus.com/inward/record. uri?eid=2-s2.0-85060525115&partnerID=40&md5=9ef-40b821a991e48acedfed818b24ef9 European Network for the Work with Perpetrators of Domestic Violence. (2019). *ENGAGE Roadmap for frontline professionals interacting with male perpetrators of domestic violence and abuse*.

Evans, I., & Lindsay, J. (2008). Incorporation rather than recovery: Living with the legacy of domestic violence. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 31(5), 355–362.

## https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2008.08.003

Ewart-Boyle, S., Manktelow, R., & Mccolgan, M. (2015). Social work and the shadow father: lessons for engaging fathers in Northern Ireland. *Child and Family Social Work*, *20*(4), 470–479. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12096

Featherstone, Brid. (2013). Working with fathers: risk or resource? In J. Ribbens McCarthy, C.-A. Hooper, & V. Gillies (Eds.), *Family troubles?: Exploring changes and challenges in the family lives of children and young people*. Policy Press Scholarship.

Featherstone, Brid. (2017). Working effectively with men in families – including fathers in children's social care: Frontline Briefing (2017). Dartington: Research in Practice.

Featherstone, Brid, & Fraser, C. (2012). Working with Fathers around Domestic Violence: Contemporary Debates. *Child Abuse Review*, *21*(4), 255–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2221

Featherstone, Brid, Gupta, A., Morris, K., & White, S. (2018). *Protecting children: a social model*. Policy Press. Featherstone, Brid, & Peckover, S. (2007). Letting them get away with it: Fathers, domestic violence and child welfare. *Critical Social Policy*, *27*(2), 181–202. https://doi.org/10.1177/0261018306075708

Femi-Ajao, O., Kendal, S., & Lovell, K. (2020). A qualitative systematic review of published work on disclosure and help-seeking for domestic violence and abuse among women from ethnic minority populations in the UK. *Ethnicity and Health*, *25*(5), 732–746.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2018.1447652

Feresin, M., Bastiani, F., Beltramini, L., & Romito, P. (2019). The Involvement of Children in Postseparation Intimate Partner Violence in Italy: A Strategy to Maintain Coercive Control? *Affilia*, 34(3), 088610991985767. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109919857672

Feresin, M., Folla, N., Lapierre, S., & Romito, P. (2018). Family Mediation in Child Custody Cases and the Concealment of Domestic Violence. *Affilia – Journal of Women and Social Work*, 33(4), 509–525. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109918766659

Ferguson, G., Featherstone, B., & Morris, K. (2020). Framed to fit? Challenging the domestic abuse 'story' in child protection. *Critical and Radical Social Work*, 8(1), 25–40.

## https://doi.org/10.1332/204986019X15668424450790

Flood, M. (2010). "Fathers' rights" and the Defense of Paternal Authority in Australia. *Violence Against Women*, *16*(3), 328-347.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801209360918

Forsdike, K., Tarzia, L., Flood, M., Vlais, R., & Hegarty, K. (2018). "A Lightbulb Moment": Using the Theory of Planned Behavior to Explore the Challenges and Opportunities for Early Engagement of Australian Men Who Use Violence in Their Relationships. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *36*(7-8).

# https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518780778

Gadd, D., & Corr, M.-L. (2017). Beyond Typologies: Foregrounding Meaning and Motive in Domestic Violence Perpetration. *Deviant Behavior*, *38*(7), 781-791. https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2016.1197685

Gamache, D. J., Edleson, J. L., & Schock, M. D. (1988). Coordinated police, judicial, and social service response to woman battering: A multiple-baseline evaluation across three communities. *Coping with Family Violence: Research and Policy Perspectives*, 193–209.

Gangoli, G., Bates, L., & Hester, M. (2020). What does justice mean to black and minority ethnic (BME) victims/ survivors of gender-based violence? *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 46(15), 3119–3135. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2019.1650010

Gibbs, A., Jewkes, R., Sikweyiya, Y., & Willan, S. (2015). Reconstructing masculinity? A qualitative evaluation of the Stepping Stones and Creating Futures interventions in urban informal settlements in South Africa. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 17*(2), 208–222. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2014.966150 Gilchrist, G., Landau, S., Radcliffe, P., McMurran, M., Feder, G., Easton, C., Parrott, S., Kirkpatrick, S., Henderson, J., Potts, L., Stephens-Lewis, D., Johnson, A., Love, B., Halliwell, G., Dheensa, S., Berbary, C., Li, J., Strang, J., & Gilchrist, E. (2020). A study protocol to assess the feasibility of conducting an evaluation trial of the ADVANCE integrated intervention to address both substance use and intimate partner abuse perpetration to men in substance use treatment. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, 6(1), 1–16.

# https://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-020-00580-7

Gondolf, E. W. (1987a). Changing Men Who Batter: A Developmental Model for Integrated Interventions. In *Journal of Family Violence, 2*(4), 335-349.

Gondolf, E. W. (1987b). Evaluating Programs for Men Who Batter: Problems and Prospects. In *Journal of Family Violence*, 2(1), 95-108.

Gondolf, E. W. (1988). Who are those guys? Toward a behavioral typology of batterers. *Violence and Victims*, *3*(3), 187–203.

Gondolf, E. W. (1997). Batterer programs: What we know and need to know. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *12*(1), 83–98.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/088626097012001006

Gondolf, E. W. (2004). Regional and Cultural Utility of Conventional Batterer Counseling. *Violence Against Women*, *10*(8), 880–900. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801204266311

Gondolf, E. W. (2007). Theoretical and research support for the Duluth Model: A reply to dutton and corvo. In *Aggression and Violent Behavior, 12* (6), 644–657). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2007.03.001

Gondolf, E. W. (2008). Program Completion in Specialized Batterer Counseling for African-American Men. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 23(1), 94–116. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260507307912

Gondolf, E. W. (2009). Implementing Mental Health Treatment for Batterer Program Participants: Interagency Breakdowns and Underlying Issues. *Violence Against Women*, *15*(6), 638–655.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801209332189

Gondolf, E. W. (2010). The Contributions of Ellen Pence to Batterer Programming. *Violence Against Women*, *16*(9), 992–1006. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801210379330 Gondolf, E. W. (2011). The weak evidence for batterer program alternatives. In *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *16*(4), 347–353).

# https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2011.04.011

Gondolf, E. W. (2012). The future of batterer programs: Reassessing evidence-based practice. *The Future of Batterer Programs: Reassessing Evidence-Based Practice*. Northeastern University Press.

Gottman, J. M., Jacobson, N. S., Rushe, R. H., & Shortt, J. W. (1995). The Relationship Between Heart Rate Reactivity, Emotionally Aggressive Behavior, and General Violence in Batterers. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *9*(3), 227–248.

# https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.9.3.227

Gottzén, L. (2019). Violent men's paths to batterer intervention programmes: masculinity, turning points and narrative selves. *Nordic Journal of Criminology, 20*(1), 20-34.

#### https://doi.org/10.1080/2578983X.2019.1586161

Greaves, L., Hemsing, N., & Poole, N. (2016). Health Interventions Responding to Male Batterers: Are They Ignored and Mistreated? *Violence and Gender*, 3(3), 139–142.

## https://doi.org/10.1089/vio.2015.0041

Green, K., & Browne, K. (2020). Personality Disorder Traits, Trauma, and Risk in Perpetrators of Domestic Violence. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 64(2-3), 147–166. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X19826516

Guadalupe-Diaz, X. L., & Jasinski, J. (2017). "I Wasn't a Priority, I Wasn't a Victim": Challenges in Help Seeking for Transgender Survivors of Intimate Partner Violence. *Violence Against Women*, 23(6), 772-792. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801216650288

Guru, S. (2006). Working with asian perpetrators of domestic violence – The British Experience. *Practice*, *18*(3), 153–166.

# https://doi.org/10.1080/09503150600904037

Haggård, U., Freij, I., Danielsson, M., Wenander, D., & Långström, N. (2017). Effectiveness of the IDAP Treatment Program for Male Perpetrators of Intimate Partner Violence: A Controlled Study of Criminal Recidivism. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *32*(7), 1027–1043. Hamby, S. (2014). Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Research: Scientific Progress, Scientific Challenges, and Gender. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse*, *15*(3), 149–158. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838014520723

Hamel, J. (2020). Beyond Gender: Finding Common Ground in Evidence-Based Batterer Intervention. In Intimate Partner Violence and the LGBT+ Community: Understanding Power Dynamics (pp. 195–223). Springer International Publishing.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-44762-5\_11

Hamilton, G., Harris, L., & Powell, A. (2019). Policing repeat and high-risk family violence: police and servicesector perceptions of a coordinated model. *Police Practice and Research*, *22*(1), 141-156. https://doi.org/10.1080/15614263.2019.1697267

Hamilton, L., Koehler, J. A., Lösel, F. A. (2013). Domestic Violence Perpetrator Programs in Europe, part I: A Survey of Current Practice. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *57*(10), 1189–1205.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X12469506

Harden, J., McAllister, P., Spencer, C. M., & Stith, S. M. (2020). The Dark Side of the Rainbow: Queer Women's Experiences of Intimate Partner Violence. *Trauma*, *Violence*, & *Abuse*, 1524838020933869. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838020933869

Harne, L. (2011). Violent fathering and the risks to children: The need for change. Policy Press. https://doi.org/10.1332/policypress/9781847429179.001.0001

Harris, B. A., & Woodlock Delanie. (2019). Digital Coercive Control: Insights from Two Landmark Domestic Violence Studies. *British Journal of Criminology*, *59*(3), 530–550.

https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azy052

Harvie, P., & Manzi, T. (2011). Interpreting Multi-Agency Partnerships: Ideology, Discourse and Domestic Violence. *Social and Legal Studies*, *20*(1), 79–95. https://doi.org/10.1177/0964663910384907

Havard, T. E., & Lefevre, M. (2020). Beyond the Power and Control Wheel: how abusive men manipulate mobile phone technologies to facilitate coercive control. *Journal of Gender-Based Violence*, 4(2), 223–239. https://doi.org/10.1332/239868020x15850131608789 Hayward, K. S., Steiner, S., & Sproule, K. (2008). Women's Perceptions of the Impact of a Domestic Violence Treatment Program For Male Perpetrators. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 3(2), 77–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1939-3938.2007.TB00107.X

Healey, L., Connolly, M., & Humphreys, C. (2018). A Collaborative Practice Framework for Child Protection and Specialist Domestic and Family Violence Services: Bridging the Research and Practice Divide. *Australian Social Work*, 71(2), 228–237.

#### https://doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2017.1409777

Henry, N., Flynn, A., & Powell, A. (2020). Technology-Facilitated Domestic and Sexual Violence: A Review. *Violence Against Women*, *26*(15–16), 1828–1854. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801219875821

Hester, M. (2011). The Three Planet Model: Towards an Understanding of Contradictions in Approaches to Women and Children's safety in Contexts of Domestic Violence. *British Journal of Social Work*, 41(5), 837–853. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcr095

Hester, M. (2012). Portrayal of Women as Intimate Partner Domestic Violence Perpetrators. *Violence Against Women*, *18*(9), 1067–1082.

# https://doi.org/http://dx.doi. org/10.1177/1077801212461428

Hester, M. (2013). Who does what to whom? Gender and domestic violence perpetrators in English police records. *European Journal of Criminology*, *10*(5), 623–637. https://doi.org/10.1177/1477370813479078

Hester, M., Eisenstadt, N., Jones, C., & Morgan, K. (2017). Evaluation of the Drive Project – a pilot to address highrisk perpetrators of domestic abuse Year 1 Feasibility Study (Issue November). University of Bristol.

Hester, M., Ferrari, G., Jones, S. K., Williamson, E., Bacchus, L. J., Peters, T. J., & Feder, G. (2015). Occurrence and impact of negative behaviour, including domestic violence and abuse, in men attending UK primary care health clinics: a cross-sectional survey. *BMJ Open*, *5*(5), 1–10.

## https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007141

Heward-Belle, S., Humphreys, C., Healey, L., Toivonen, C., & Tsantefski, M. (2019). Invisible Practices: Interventions With Men Who Use Violence and Control. *Affilia - Journal of Women and Social Work*, 34(3), 369– 382.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109919848750

Hoang, T.-A., Quach, T. T., & Tran, T. T. (2013). 'Because I am a man, I should be gentle to my wife and my children': positive masculinity to stop gender-based violence in a coastal district in Vietnam. *Gender & Development*, *21*(1), 81–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2013.767511

Holt, S. (2011). Domestic Abuse and Child Contact: Positioning Children in the Decision-making Process. *Child Care in Practice*, *17*(4), 327–346. https://doi.org/10.1080/13575279.2011.596817

Holt, S. (2016). Domestic Violence and the Paradox of Post-Separation Mothering. *British Journal of Social Work*, 47(7), 2049-2067. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcw162

Holt, S. (2018). A voice or a choice? Children's views on participating in decisions about post-separation contact with domestically abusive fathers. *Journal of Social Welfare and Family Law*, 40(4), 459–476. https://doi.org/10.1080/09649069.2018.1519653

Holtrop, K., Scott, J. C., Parra-Cardona, J. R., McNeil Smith, S., Schmittel, E., & Larance, L. Y. (2017). Exploring Factors That Contribute to Positive Change in a Diverse, Group-Based Male Batterer Intervention Program: Using Qualitative Data to Inform Implementation and Adaptation Efforts. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 32(8), 1267–1290.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260515588535

Holtzworth-Munroe, A., Meehan, J. C., Herron, K., Rehman, U., & Stuart, G. L. (2000). Testing the Holtzworth-Munroe and Stuart (1994) batterer typology. In *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 68*(6), 1000–1019. n.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.6.1000

Holtzworth-Munroe, A., & Stuart, G. L. (1994). Typologies of male batterers: three subtypes and the differences among them. *Psychological Bulletin*, *116*(3), *4*76–497. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.116.3.476

Home Office. (2013). Domestic violence and abuse: new definition. In *Domestic Violence and Abuse* (Vol. 2017). HM Government.

# https://www.gov.uk/guidance/domestic-violence-and-abuse

Home Office. (2019). Transforming the Response to Domestic Abuse: Consultation Response and Draft Bill. In S. of S. for the H. Department (Ed.), *Home Office*. HM Government. Home Office. (2021a). Domestic Abuse Act: Factsheet -Home Office in the media. Home Office in the Media. https://homeofficemedia.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/29/domesticabuseactfactsheet/

Home Office. (2021b). Domestic Abuse Protection Notices / Orders factsheet. Policy Paper.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-factsheets/domestic-abuse-protection-notices-orders-factsheet

Hughes, L., Fitzgerald, C., Radcliffe, P., & Gilchrist, G. (2015). A framework for working safely and effectively with men who perpetrate intimate partner violence in substance use treatment settings.

https://coercivecontrol.ripfa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/A framework for working safely and effectively with perpetrators.pdf

Hughes, W. (2017). Lessons from the Integrated Domestic Abuse Programme, for the implementation of Building Better Relationships. *Probation Journal*, 64(2), 129-145. https://doi.org/10.1177/0264550517701199

Humphreys, C., & Absler, D. (2011). History repeating: child protection responses to domestic violence. Child and Family Social Work, 16(4), 464-473. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2206.2011.00761.x

Humphreys, C., Diemer, K., Bornemisza, A., Spiteri-Staines, A., Kaspiew, R., Horsfall, B. (2019). More present than absent: Men who use domestic violence and their fathering. Child and Family Social Work, 24(2), 321-329.

## https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12617

Humphreys, C., Healey, L., & Heward-Belle, S. (2020). Fathers who use domestic violence: Organisational capacity building and practice development. *Child and* Family Social Work, 25(S1), 18-27. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12708

Humphreys, C., Healey, L., & Mandel, D. (2018). Case Reading as a Practice and Training Intervention in Domestic Violence and Child Protection. Australian Social Work, 71(3), 277-291. https://doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2017.1413666

Imkaan, & Ascent. (2016). Safe Pathways? Exploring an intersectional approach to addressing violence against women and girls. In *Good Practice Briefing*. London: Ascent (London VAWG Consortium).

Institute of Public Care. (2020). Barnardo's Cymru **Opening Closed Doors Programme Evaluation Final Report** (Issue February).

IRISi. (2017). IRISi - Social enterprise to improve the healthcare response to gender based violence. https://irisi.org/

Isobe, J., Healey, L., & Humphreys, C. (2020). A critical interpretive synthesis of the intersection of domestic violence with parental issues of mental health and substance misuse. Health and Social Care in the Community, 28(5), 1394-1407. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12978

Jaffe, P. G., Johnston, J. R., Crooks, C. V., & Bala, N. (2008). Custody Disputes Involving Allegations of Domestic Violence: Toward a Differentiated Approach To Parenting Plans. Family Court Review, 46(3), 500-522. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-1617.2008.00216.x

Jewell, L. M., & Wormith, J. S. (2010). Variables Associated With Attrition From Domestic Violence Treatment Programs Targeting Male Batterers: A Meta-Analysis. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 37(10), 1086-1113. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854810376815

Johnson, M. P. (2008). A Typology of Domestic Violence. University Press of New England.

Johnson, M. P. (2017). A Personal Social History of a Typology of Intimate Partner Violence. Journal of Family Theory and Review, 9(2), 150-164. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12187

Jones, A. S., D'Agostino, R. B., Gondolf, E. W., & Heckert, A. (2004). Assessing the Effect of Batterer Program Completion on Reassault Using Propensity Scores. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 19(9), 1002–1020. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260504268005

Juodis, M., Starzomski, A., Porter, S., & Woodworth, M. (2014). What Can be Done About High-Risk Perpetrators of Domestic Violence? Journal of Family Violence, 29(4), 381-390.

## https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-014-9597-2

Katz, E. (2016). Beyond the Physical Incident Model: How Children Living with Domestic Violence are Harmed By and Resist Regimes of Coercive Control. Child Abuse Review, 25(1), 46-59.

https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2422

Katz, E., Nikupeteri, A., & Laitinen, M. (2020). When Coercive Control Continues to Harm Children: Post-Separation Fathering, Stalking and Domestic Violence. *Child Abuse Review*, *29*(4), 310–324. https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2611

Kelly, J. B., & Johnson, M. P. (2008). Differentiation Among Types of Intimate Partner Violence: Research Update and Implications for Interventions. *Family Court Review*, 46(3), 476–499.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-1617.2008.00215.x

Kelly, L, Sharp, N., & Klein, R. (2014). Finding the Costs of Freedom – How women and children rebuild their lives after domestic violence. Solace Women's Aid. http://repository.londonmet.ac.uk/1483/1/SWA-Finding-Costs-of-Freedom-Report.pdf

Kelly, Liz, Rehman, Y., & Siddiqui, H. (2016). Moving in the shadows : violence in the lives of minority women and children. In Liz Kelly, Y. Rehman, & H. Siddiqui (Eds.), *Moving in the shadows : violence in the lives of minority women and children*. Routledge.

Kelly, Liz, & Westmarland, N. (2015). New approaches to assessing effectiveness and outcomes of domestic violence perpetrator programs. In H. Johnson, B. S. Fisher, & V. Jaquier (Eds.), *Critical issues on violence against women* (pp. 183–194). Taylor and Francis. https://www.scopus.com/inward/record. uri?eid=2-s2.0-85086622634&partnerID=40&md5=32f-30f981a625af1d2b464184aca1261

Kelly, Liz, & Westmarland, N. (2016). Naming and Defining 'Domestic Violence': Lessons from Research with Violent Men. *Feminist Review*, *112*(1), 113–127. https://doi.org/10.1057/fr.2015.52

King's College London & The Stefanou Foundation. (2019). *The Evaluation of For Baby's Sake: Joint Summary*. Kuskoff, E., Clarke, A., & Parsell, C. (2021). What About Men? The Marginalization of Men Who Engage in Domestic Violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 886260521997462.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260521997462

Langdon-Shreeve, S., Horswell, C., Hearne, S., Day, T., Kaur, K., & Ashworth, S. (2020). *Evaluation of the Newham NewDAy programme Evaluation report*. London: Department for Education. Lapierre, S. (2009a). Are abused women 'neglectful' mothers? A critical reflection based on women's experiences. In B Featherstone, C. Hooper, J. Scourfield, & J. Taylor (Eds.), *Gender and Child Welfare in Society* (pp. 121–148). Wiley-Blackwell.

Lapierre, S. (2009b). More Responsibilities, Less Control: Understanding the Challenges and Difficulties Involved in Mothering in the Context of Domestic Violence. *British Journal of Social Work*, 40(5), 1434–1451. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcp080

LeBlanc, A. N., & Mong, M. D. (2021). The Double Standard of Accountability: A Call for Treatment Integrity of IPV Offender Programs. *Partner Abuse*, *12*(1), 94–108.

#### https://doi.org/10.1891/PA-D-20-00005

Lewis, R. J., Mason, T. B., Winstead, B. A., & Kelley, M. L. (2017). Empirical investigation of a model of sexual minority specific and general risk factors for intimate partner violence among lesbian women. *Psychology of Violence*, *7*(1), 110–119.

#### https://doi.org/10.1037/vio000036

Liel, C. (2017). Treatment of domestic violence perpetrators: impact on the risk for recidivism. *Forensische Psychiatrie, Psychologie, Kriminologie, 11*(1), 59–68.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11757-016-0399-7

Lilley-Walker, S.-J., Hester, M., & Turner, W. (2018). Evaluation of European Domestic Violence Perpetrator Programmes: Toward a Model for Designing and Reporting Evaluations Related to Perpetrator Treatment Interventions. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *62*(4), 868–884. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X16673853

Love, H. A., Spencer, C. M., May, S. A., Mendez, M., & Stith, S. M. (2020). Perpetrator Risk Markers for Intimate Terrorism and Situational Couple Violence: A Meta-Analysis. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse, 21*(5), 922–931.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838018801331

Macdonald, G. S. (2016). Domestic Violence and Private Family Court Proceedings: Promoting Child Welfare or Promoting Contact? *Violence Against Women*, *22*(7), 832–852.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801215612600

Macdonald, G. S. (2017). Hearing children's voices? Including children's perspectives on their experiences of domestic violence in welfare reports prepared for the English courts in private family law proceedings. *Child Abuse Neglect, 65,* 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2016.12.013

Mandel, D., & Wright, C. (2019). Building on the Greenbook: A Perpetrator Pattern-Based Approach to Improve Child Welfare's Response to Domestic Violence. Juvenile and Family Court Journal, 70(4), 119–135. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfcj.12155

Margolis, R., Hollis, V., Hyde-Dryden, G., Robson-Brown, E., Smith, E., & McConnell, N. (2020). Families facing multiple adversities: impact and interventions. *Paediatrics and Child Health (United Kingdom)*, 30(11), 390–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paed.2020.08.005

Maxwell, N., Scourfield, J., Featherstone, B., Holland, S., & Tolman, R. (2012). Engaging fathers in child welfare services: a narrative review of recent research evidence. *Child & Family Social Work*, *17*(2), 160–169. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2206.2012.00827.x

Maxwell, N., Scourfield, J., Holland, S., Featherstone, B., & Lee, J. (2012). The Benefits and Challenges of Training Child Protection Social Workers in Father Engagement. *Child Abuse Review*, *21*(4), 299–310. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2218

McConnell, N., Barnard, M., & Taylor, J. (2017). Caring Dads Safer Children: Families' perspectives on an intervention for maltreating fathers. *Psychology of Violence*, 7(3), 406–416. https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000105

McCracken, K., FitzSimons, A., Priest, S., & Stanley, N. (2017). *Evaluation of Growing Futures: research report* (Issue March).

# http://www.scie-socialcareonline.org.uk/evaluation-of-growing-futures-research-report/r/ a110f00000Kvq7eAAB

McGinn, T., McColgan, M., Daly, M., & Taylor, B. (2019). Participants' Views About the Survivor Contact Element of IPV Perpetrator Programs: A Preliminary Study. *Violence and Victims*, 34(6), 889–909.

https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.VV-D-17-00150

McGinn, T., McColgan, M., & Taylor, B. (2020). Male IPV Perpetrator's Perspectives on Intervention and Change: A Systematic Synthesis of Qualitative Studies. *Trauma*, *Violence, and Abuse*, *21*(1), 97–112. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838017742167

McGinn, T., Taylor, B., McColgan, M., & Lagdon, S. (2016). Survivor Perspectives on IPV Perpetrator Interventions: A Systematic Narrative Review. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse, 17*(3), 239–255. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838015584358

Mcmillan, A. S., & Barlow, J. (2019). Steps to Safety : Report on the Feasibility Study. July. London: NSPCC. Mennicke, A. (2019). Expanding and Validating a Typology of Intimate Partner Violence: Intersections of Violence and Control Within Relationships. Violence against Women, 25(4), 379-400.

Messinger, A. M. (2018). Bidirectional Same-Gender and Sexual Minority Intimate Partner Violence. *Violence and Gender*, *5*(4), 241–249. https://doi.org/10.1089/vio.2018.0001

Meyer, S. (2018). Motivating perpetrators of domestic and family violence to engage in behaviour change: The role of fatherhood. *Child and Family Social Work*, *23*(1), 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12388

Miles, C., & De Claire, K. (2018). Rapid Evidence Assessment: What works with domestic abuse perpetrators? Cardiff: Welsh Government. https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-06/181204-rapid-evidence-as-

sessment-what-works-domestic-abuse-perpetrators-en.pdf

Ministry of Justice. (2020). Assessing Risk of Harm to Children and Parents in Private Law Children Cases Final Report (Issue June).

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/assessing-risk-of-harm-to-children-and-parents-in-privatelaw-children-cases

Ministry of Justice. (2021). CORRECTIONAL SERVICES ACCREDITATION AND ADVICE PANEL (CSAAP) Currently Accredited Programmes.

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/offending-behaviour-programmes-and-interventions#list-of-hmpps-accredited-programmes Mirick, R. G. (2014). The intersection of intimate partner violence and child protection: Toward a better understanding of engagement and resistance for mothers experiencing intimate partner violence. In Partner Violence: Risk Factors, Therapeutic Interventions and Psychological Impact (pp. 19-37). Nova Science Publishers. Inc.

Mirza, H. S., & Gunaratnam, Y. (2014). 'The branch on which I sit': reflections on black British feminism. Feminist Review, 108(1), 125-133. https://doi.org/10.1057/fr.2014.13

Mirza, N. (2018). Reframing agency in abusive contexts: beyond 'free choice' and 'open resistance'. Journal of Gender-Based Violence, 2(1), 41-56.

# https://doi.org/10.1332/239868017x15127297709475

Morgan, K., & Jones, C. (n.d.). Drive and Reprovide: approaches to working with perpetrators of domestic violence and South West Violence Prevention Conference 2018 From Evidence into Practice Streatham Court, University of Exeter, 6 September 2018. Drive and Reprovide: Approaches to Working with Perpetrators of Domestic Violence and Abuse.

Morgan, K., Williamson, E., Hester, M., Jones, S., & Feder, G. (2014). Asking men about domestic violence and abuse in a family medicine context: Help seeking and views on the general practitioner role. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 19(6), 637-642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2014.09.008

Morgan, S. A., McCausland, B. M. S., & Parkes, J. (2019). Baseline characteristics and outcomes of the main perpetrator programme within the Hampshire Domestic Abuse Prevention Partnership, UK: A mixed methods study. PLoS ONE, 14(7), 1-16.

# https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218408

Morran, D. (2013). Desisting from Domestic Abuse: Influences, Patterns and Processes in the Lives of Formerly Abusive Men. Howard Journal of Criminal *Justice*, *52*(3), 306-320. https://doi.org/10.1111/hojo.12016

Morris, K. (2013). Troubled families: vulnerable families' experiences of multiple service use. Child and Family Social Work, 18(2), 198-206.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2206.2011.00822.x

Morris, K., Mason, W., Bywaters, P., Featherstone, B., Daniel, B., Brady, G., Bunting, L., Hooper, J., Mirza, N., Scourfield, J., & Webb, C. (2018). Social work, poverty, and child welfare interventions. Child & Family Social Work, 23(3), 364-372. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12423

Morrison, F. (2015). 'All Over Now?' The Ongoing Relational Consequences of Domestic Abuse through Children's Contact Arrangements. Child Abuse Review, 24(4), 274-284. https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2409

Morrison, P. K., Cluss, P. A., Miller, E. P., Fleming, R., Hawker, L., Bicehouse, T., George, D., Wright, K., & Chang, J. C. (2017). Elements Needed for Quality Batterer Intervention Programs: Perspectives of Professionals Who Deal with Intimate Partner Violence. Journal of Family Violence, 32(5), 481-491.

# https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-016-9835-x

Morriss, L. (2018). Haunted futures: The stigma of being a mother living apart from her child(ren) as a result of state-ordered court removal. The Sociological Review, 66(4), 816-831.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/0038026118777448

Možíšová, A. (2017). Intimate partner violence in lesbian relationships: An interactional-structural analysis. In A. King, A.C. Santos & I. Crowhurst (Eds), Sexualities Research: Critical Interjections, Diverse Methodologies, and Practical Applications (pp. 125-138). Taylor and Francis.

Murphy, C. M., Eckhardt, C. I., Clifford, J. M., LaMotte, A. D., & Meis, L. A. (2020). Individual Versus Group Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy for Partner-Violent Men: A Preliminary Randomized Trial. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 35(15-16), 2846-2868.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517705666

Myhill, A. (2015). Measuring Coercive Control: What Can We Learn From National Population Surveys? Violence Against Women, 21(3), 355-375. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801214568032

Myhill, A. (2017). Measuring domestic violence: context is everything. Journal of Gender-Based Violence, 1(1), 33-44.

https://doi.org/10.1332/239868017X14896674831496

Neale, J. (2018). Abused women's perceptions of professionals' responses: valued support, or collusion with perpetrator? *Journal of Gender-Based Violence*, 2(3), 411–427.

https://doi.org/10.1332/239868018X15366982612051

Nixon, J., & Humphreys, C. (2010). Marshalling the Evidence: Using Intersectionality in the Domestic Violence Frame. *Social Politics*, *17*(2), 137-158. https://doi.org/10.1093/sp/jxq003

Nygren, K., Walsh, J., Ellingsen, I. T., & Christie, A. (2019). What about the fathers? The presence and absence of the father in social work practice in England, Ireland, Norway, and Sweden-A comparative study. *Child & Family Social Work*, 24(1), 148–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12592

O'Brien, R. B. (2016). Intersectionality and adolescent domestic violence and abuse: addressing "classed sexism" and improving service provision. *International Journal of Human Rights in Healthcare*, 9(3), 161–173. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJHRH-08-2015-0026

O'Connor, A., Morris, H., Panayiotidis, A., Cooke, V., & Skouteris, H. (2020). Rapid Review of Men's Behavior Change Programs. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse*, 1524838020906527.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838020906527

Oddone, C. (2020). Perpetrating violence in intimate relationships as a gendering practice: An ethnographic study on domestic violence perpetrators in France and Italy. *Violence: An International Journal*, 1(2), 242-264. 2633002420962274.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/2633002420962274

Ofsted. (2011). Ages of concern: learning lessons from serious case reviews.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/learning-lessons-from-serious-case-reviews

Olszowy, L., Jaffe, P. G., Dawson, M., Straatman, A.-L., & Saxton, M. D. (2020). Voices from the frontline: Child protection workers' perspectives on barriers to assessing risk in domestic violence cases. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *116*, 105208.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105208

# ONS. (2020). Domestic abuse victim characteristics, England and Wales – Office for National Statistics. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabusevictimcharacteristicsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2020

Oram, S., Marie Flynn, S., Shaw, J., Appleby, L., & Howard, L.M., (2013). Mental Illness and Domestic Homicide: A Population-Based Descriptive Study. *Psychiatric Services*, *64*(10), 1006–1011. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201200484

Pallatino, C. L., Morrison, P. K., Miller, E., Burke, J., Cluss, P. A., Fleming, R., Hawker, L., George, D., Bicehouse, T., & Chang, J. C. (2019). The Role of Accountability in Batterers Intervention Programs and Community Response to Intimate Partner Violence. *Journal of Family Violence*, *34*(7), 631–643. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-019-00050-6

Parra-Cardona, J. R., Escobar-Chew, A. R., Holtrop, K., Carpenter, G., Guzmán, R., Hernández, D., Zamudio, E., & González Ramírez, D. (2013). "En el Grupo Tomas Conciencia (In Group You Become Aware)": Latino Immigrants' Satisfaction With a Culturally Informed Intervention for Men Who Batter. *Violence Against Women*, 19(1), 107–132.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801212475338

Patel, U., & Roesch, R. (2020). The Prevalence of Technology-Facilitated Sexual Violence: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse,* 1524838020958057. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838020958057

Pearson, D. A. S., & Ford, A. (2018). Design of the "Up2U" domestic abuse perpetrator programme. *Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research, 10*(3), 189–201. https://doi.org/10.1108/JACPR-04-2017-0280

Pence, E., & Paymar, M. (2011). Creating a process of change for men who batter: An education curriculum (Revised ed.). *Program Development Duluth, Minnesota*.

Pence, E., Paymar, M., & Ritmeester, T. (1993). *Education groups for men who batter: The Duluth model*. Springer Publishing Company.

# Pender, R. L. (2012). ASGW Best Practice Guidelines: An Evaluation of the Duluth Model. In *The Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 37(3), 218–231. https://doi.org/10.1080/01933922.2011.632813

Peralta, R. L., Tuttle, L. A., & Steele, J. L. (2010). At the Intersection of Interpersonal Violence, Masculinity, and Alcohol Use: The Experiences of Heterosexual Male Perpetrators of Intimate Partner Violence. *Article Violence Against Women*, *16*(4), 387–409.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801210363539

Pfitzner, N., Humphreys, C., & Hegarty, K. (2017). Research Review: Engaging men: a multi-level model to support father engagement. *Child & Family Social Work*, *22*(1), 537–547.

# https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12250

Philip, G., Bedston, S., Youansamouth, L., Clifton, J., Broadhurt, K., Brandon, M., & Hu, Y. (2021). *"UP AGAINST IT" Understanding Fathers' Repeat Appearance in Local Authority Care Proceedings (Research Briefing)*. Nuffield Foundation.

Philip, G., Clifton, J., & Brandon, M. (2019). The Trouble With Fathers: The Impact of Time and Gendered-Thinking on Working Relationships Between Fathers and Social Workers in Child Protection Practice in England. *Journal of Family Issues*, 40(16), 2288–2309. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X18792682

11(1ps.//doi.org/10.11///0192513A18/92082

Phillips, R. (2012). DVIP's co-location in Hackney Children's Services: A process evaluation. January 2013, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.20750.41287

Phillips, R., Kelly, L., & Westmarland, N. (2013). Domestic violence perpetrator programmes: An historical overview. In *Project Mirabal Briefing Note 2*. http://repository.londonmet.ac.uk/1492/1/anhistoricaloverviewbriefingnote.pdf

Portnoy, G. A., Colon, R., Gross, G. M., Adams, L. J., Bastian, L. A., & Iverson, K. M. (2020). Patient and provider barriers, facilitators, and implementation preferences of intimate partner violence perpetration screening. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05595-7

Price, P. (2016). Working trans-culturally with domestically violent men. In *Moving in the Shadows: Violence in the Lives of Minority Women and Children* (pp. 245–259). Taylor and Francis. Radatz, D. L., & Wright, E. M. (2016). Integrating the Principles of Effective Intervention into Batterer Intervention Programming: The Case for Moving Toward More Evidence-Based Programming. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse, 17*(1), 72–87.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838014566695

Rankine, J., Percival, T., Finau, E., Hope, L. T., Kingi, P., Peteru, M. C., Powell, E., Robati-Mani, R., & Selu, E. (2017). Pacific Peoples, Violence, and the Power and Control Wheel. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *32*(18), 2777–2803.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260515596148

Respect. (2013). What is the evidence base for interventions with domestic violence perpetrators? Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee Gender-based Violence, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Bill: Stage 1 Response from: Respect.

Respect. (2017). Respect Service Standard – Third Edition 2017.

https://www.respect.uk.net/pages/64-respect-standard

Respect. (2019). Toolkit for work with male victims of domestic abuse.

https://www.respect.uk.net/resources/19-respect-toolkit-for-work-with-male-victims-of-domestic-abuse

Respect, SafeLives, & Social Finance. (2021). *Types of intervention to respond to perpetrators of domestic abuse*. Unpublished

Richards, T. N., Jennings, W. G., & Murphy, C. (2019). Risk and Protective Factors for Batterer Intervention Treatment Program Attrition: How Completers Are Distinct From Dropouts and No-Shows. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *36*(15-16), 7351-7370. 0886260519834096. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519834096

Richie, B. E., & Eife, E. (2020). Black Bodies at the Dangerous Intersection of Gender Violence and Mass Criminalization. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment and Trauma*, 30(7), 877-888. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2019.1703063

Rivett, M. (2010). Working with Violent Male Carers (Fathers and Stepfathers). In B Featherstone, C. Hooper, J. Scourfield, & J. Taylor (Eds.), *Gender and Child Welfare in Society* (pp. 195–222). Wiley-Blackwell. Robbins, R., & Cook, K. (2018). 'Don't Even Get Us Started on Social Workers': Domestic Violence, Social Work and Trust–An Anecdote from Research. *The British Journal of Social Work, 48*(6), 1664–1681. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcx125

Robinson, A. L. (2017). Serial Domestic Abuse in Wales: An Exploratory Study into its Definition, Prevalence, Correlates, and Management. *Victims & Offenders*, 12(5), 643-662.

# http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15564886.2016.1187691

Robinson, A. L., & Clancy, A. (2020). Systematically identifying and prioritising domestic abuse perpetrators for targeted intervention. *Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 1748895820914380. https://doi.org/10.1177/1748895820914380

Rodger, J., Allan, T., Elliott, S., & York Consulting LLP. (2020). *Family Safeguarding Evaluation report*. London: Department for Education.

Rogers, M. (2019). Challenging cisgenderism through trans people's narratives of domestic violence and abuse. *Sexualities*, 22(5–6), 803–820. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363460716681475

Roguski, M., & Edge, K. (2021). Thinking differently about family violence: Shifting from a criminal justice response to a recovery orientation. *Journal* of Community and Applied Social Psychology, 31(3), 341–353.

## https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2506

Rosen, L. N., Dragiewicz, M., & Gibbs, J. C. (2009). Fathers' Rights Groups: Demographic Correlates and Impact on Custody Policy. *Violence Against Women*, *15*(5), 513–531.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801209331409

Ryan, M. (2021). Recurrent care: five key areas for reflection from the research. *Nuffield Family Justice Observatory*.

Safe & Together institute. (2018). Overview and *Evaluation Data Briefing*.

# Safe & Together Institute. (2020). ABOUT THE MODEL -Safe & Together Institute.

https://safeandtogetherinstitute.com/about-us/aboutthe-model/ SafeLives. (2020a). Domestic Abuse: The Whole Picture Culture change programme for Children's Social Care professionals – Pilot evaluation.

https://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/ Whole Picture Children%27s Social Care professionals cultural change evaluation.pdf

SafeLives. (2020b). The whole picture strategy. https://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/ The Whole Picture - SafeLives%27 Strategy.pdf

SafeLives, & Domestic Abuse Commissioner. (2021). Understanding court support for victims of domestic abuse: Mapping the provision of court-related domestic abuse support and advocacy across England and Wales on behalf of the Domestic Abuse Commissioner. https://domesticabusecommissioner.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2021/06/Court-Support-Mapping-Report-DAC-Office-and-SafeLives-1.pdf

Samelius, L., Thapar-Björkert, S., & Binswanger, C. (2014). Turning points and the 'everyday': Exploring agency and violence in intimate relationships. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, *21*(3), 264–277. https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506814523941

Sanders, M., Schoenwald, E., Sholl, P., Reid, L., & Luca, D. L. (2020). *Trial evaluation protocol: strengthening families, protecting children – family safeguarding model*. What Works Centre for Children's Social Care.

https://whatworks-csc.org.uk/research-project/family-safeguarding-model-trial-evaluation/

Santirso, F. A., Gilchrist, G., Lila, M., & Gracia, E. (2020). Motivational Strategies in Interventions for Intimate Partner Violence Offenders: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Psychosocial Intervention*, *29*(3), 175–190. https://doi.org/10.5093/Pl2020A13

# Scott, J. (2019). Safe and Together Institute for Scotland: Report of scoping activity.

Scott, K., Dubov, V., Devine, C., Colquhoun, C., Hoffelner, C., Niki, I., Webb, S., & Goodman, D. (2021). Caring Dads intervention for fathers who have perpetrated abuse within their families: Quasiexperimental evaluation of child protection outcomes over two years. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *120*, 105204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105204 Semiatin, J. N., Torres, S., Lamotte, A. D., Portnoy, G. A., & Murphy, C. M. (2017). Trauma exposure, PTSD symptoms, and presenting clinical problems among male perpetrators of intimate partner violence. Psychology of Violence, 7(1), 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000041

Sheehan, K. A., Thakor, S., & Stewart, D. E. (2012). Turning Points for Perpetrators of Intimate Partner Violence. Trauma, Violence, and Abuse, 13(1), 30-40. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838011426016

Shepard, M. (1999). Evaluating Coordinated Community **Responses to Domestic Violence VAWnet Applied** Research Forum. VAWnet: National Electronic Network on Violence Against Women, April.

https://vawnet.org/material/evaluating-coordinated-community-responses-domestic-violence

Shepard, M., Falk, D. R., & Elliott, B. A. (2002). Enhancing Coordinated Community Responses to Reduce Recidivism in Cases of Domestic Violence. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 17(5), 551-569. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260502017005005

Sherman, L., Bland, M., House, P., & Strang, H. (2016). Targeting family violence reported to Western Australia Police: The Felonious Few vs. The Miscreant Many. 2010-2015. ANZSEPB.

https://www.anzsebp.com/targeting-family-violence-reported-to-western-australia-police-2010-2015-the-felonious-few-vs-the-miscreant-many/

Sidebotham, P., Brandon, M., Bailey, S., Belderson, P., Dodsworth, J., Garstang, J., Harrison, E., Retzer, A., & Sorensen, P. (2016). Pathways to harm, pathways to protection: a triennial analysis of serious case reviews 2011 to 2014 Final report.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/analysisof-serious-case-reviews-2011-to-2014

Sinnott, T., & Artz, S. (2016). What's in a Name? The Negative Implications of Gender Neutrality in the Intimate Partner Violence Prevention and Intervention Literature. Gender Issues, 33, 271-284.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s12147-016-9166-5

Skafida, V., Morrison, F., & Devaney, J. (2021). Prevalence and Social Inequality in Experiences of Domestic Abuse Among Mothers of Young Children: A Study Using National Survey Data from Scotland. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 886260520980392. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520980392

Smith, J., & Humphreys, C. (2019). Child protection and fathering where there is domestic violence: Contradictions and consequences. Child and Family Social Work, 24(1), 156-163. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12598

Snaychuk, L. A., & O'Neill, M. L. (2020). Technology-Facilitated Sexual Violence: Prevalence, Risk, and Resiliency in Undergraduate Students. Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment and Trauma, 29(8), 984–999. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2019.1710636

Sokoloff, N J. & Dupont, I. (2005). Domestic Violence at the Intersections of Race, Class, and Gender: Challenges and Contributions to Understanding Violence against Marginalized Women in Diverse Communities. Violence Against Women, 11(1), 38-64. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801204271476

Sokoloff, Natalie J. (2008). Expanding the Intersectional Paradigm to Better Understand Domestic Violence in Immigrant Communities. Critical Criminology, 16(4), 229-255.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10612-008-9059-3

Spencer, C. M., Stith, S. M., & Cafferky, B. (2020). What Puts Individuals at Risk for Physical Intimate Partner Violence Perpetration? A Meta-Analysis Examining Risk Markers for Men and Women. Trauma, Violence, and Abuse.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838020925776

Standing Together. (2020). In Search of Excellence © A refreshed quide to effective domestic abuse partnership work - The Coordinated Community Response (CCR). https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5eeobe2588f1e349401c832c/t/5fd78eaf72a0a65a-94da967e/1607962290051/In+Search+of+Excellence+2020.pdf

Stanley, N., Graham-Kevan, N., & Borthwick, R. (2012). Fathers and Domestic Violence: Building Motivation for Change through Perpetrator Programmes. Child Abuse Review, 21(4), 264-274. https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2222

Stanley, N., & Humphreys, C. (2017). Identifying the key components of a 'whole family' intervention for families experiencing domestic violence and abuse. *Journal of Gender-Based Violence*, 1(1), 99–115.

# https://doi.org/10.1332/239868017X14913081639164

Stanley, N., Miller, P., Richardson Foster, H., & Thomson, G. (2011). A Stop-Start Response: Social Services' Interventions with Children and Families Notified following Domestic Violence incidents. *British Journal of Social Work*, 41(2), 296–313. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcq071

Stark, E. (2009). Rethinking Coercive Control. *Violence Against Women*, *15*(12), 1509–1525. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801209347452

Stark, E. (2012). Looking Beyond Domestic Violence: Policing Coercive Control. *Journal of Police Crisis Negotiations*, 12(2), 199–217. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332586.2012.725016

Stephens-Lewis, D., Johnson, A., Huntley, A., Gilchrist, E., McMurran, M., Henderson, J., Feder, G., Howard, L. M., & Gilchrist, G. (2019). Interventions to Reduce Intimate Partner Violence Perpetration by Men Who Use Substances: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Efficacy. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse*.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838019882357

Strega, S., Fleet, C., Brown, L., Dominelli, L., Callahan, M., & Walmsley, C. (2008). Connecting father absence and mother blame in child welfare policies and practice. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *30*(7), 705–716. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2007.11.012

Tarzia, L., Forsdike, K., Feder, G., & Hegarty, K. (2020). Interventions in Health Settings for Male Perpetrators or Victims of Intimate Partner Violence. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse, 21*(1), 123–137.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838017744772

Thandi, G. (2012). Working with South Asian male perpetrators of intimate partner violence in British Columbia, Canada. *Probation Journal*, *59*(3), 219–234. https://doi.org/10.1177/0264550512448451

Thiara, R. (2020). *Reclaiming Voice: Minoritised Women* and Sexual Violence Key Findings. https://www.imkaan.org.uk/research Thiara, R. K., & Gill, A. K. (2012). Domestic Violence, Child Contact and Post-Separation Violence: Issues for South Asian and African-Caribbean Women and Children – A Report of Findings. NSPCC.

Todd, J. (2020). Jo Todd discusses the need to diversify perpetrator research with HOPE Training | Respect. Respect.

https://www.respect.uk.net/articles/99-jo-todd-discusses-the-need-to-diversify-perpetrator-researchwith-hope-training

Tomison, A., Boxall, H., Rosevear, L., & Payne, J. (2015). Domestic violence typologies: What value to practice? *Australian Institute of Criminology*, 494. https://www.aic.gov.au/publications/tandi/tandi494

Trevillion, K., Williamson, E., Thandi, G., Borschmann, R., Oram, S., & Howard, L. M. (2015). A systematic review of mental disorders and perpetration of domestic violence among military populations. In *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *50*(9), 1329–1346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-015-1084-4

Turhan, Z. (2020). Improving approaches in psychotherapy and domestic violence interventions for perpetrators from marginalized ethnic groups. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *50*(April 2019), 101337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2019.101337

Turhan, Z., & Bernard, C. (2020). Negotiating with gatekeepers: Reflexivity in exploring turkish men's engagement in domestic violence perpetrator interventions in the uk. *Qualitative Report*, *25*(8), 3065–3079.

https://www.scopus.com/inward/record. uri?eid=2-s2.0-85093515566&partnerID=40&md5=45288b3b4644bb13913151aa468178cb

University of Bristol. (2018). About REPROVIDE | Centre for Academic Primary Care | University of Bristol. http://www.bristol.ac.uk/primaryhealthcare/researchthemes/reprovide/about/

Vigurs, C., Schucan-Bird, K., Quy, K., & Gough, D. (2016). No. 5 The impact of domestic violence perpetrator programmes on victim and criminal justice outcomes: A systematic review of reviews of research evidence. *What Works: Crime Reduction Systematic Review Series*. College of Policing.

https://whatworks.college.police.uk/Research/Systematic\_Review\_Series/Pages/DA\_perp\_prog.aspx Walby, S., & Towers, J. (2017). Measuring violence to end violence: mainstreaming gender. *Journal of Gender-Based Violence*, 1(1), 11–31.

# https://doi.org/10.1332/239868017x14913081639155

Walker, K., Bowen, E., Brown, S., & Sleath, E. (2017). Subjective Accounts of the Turning Points that Facilitate Desistance from Intimate Partner Violence. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *61*(4), 371–396.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X15597493

Walker, K., Brown, S., & Hicks, K. (2016). An exploratory examination of practitioners' and offenders' perceptions of the effectiveness of an individual workbook approach for treating intimate partner violence offenders. *Psychology, Crime and Law, 22*(10), 977–999.

## https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2016.1207769

Walker, T. (2013). Voices from the Group: Violent Women's Experiences of Intervention. *Journal of Family Violence*, *28*(4), 419–426. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10896-013-9509-X

Waller, B. (2016). Broken fixes: A systematic analysis of the effectiveness of modern and postmodern interventions utilized to decrease IPV perpetration among Black males remanded to treatment. *Aggression* and Violent Behavior, 27, 42–49.

# https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2016.02.003

Walter, B., & Chung, D. (2020). How practitioners respond to men's use of intimate partner violence in rural areas. *Rural Society*, *29*(2), 100–115. https://doi.org/10.1080/10371656.2020.1809785

Wangmann, J. (2013). Different types of intimate partner violence – an exploration of the literature. *Australian Domestic & Family Violence Clearinghouse*, 22. Available at SSRN:

# https://ssrn.com/abstract=2361189

Wells, L., Lorenzetti, L., Carolo, H., Dinner, T., Jones, C., Minerson, T., & Esina, E. (2013). *Engaging Men and Boys in Domestic Violence Prevention: Opportunities and Promising Approaches*. The University of Calgary, Shift: The Project to End Domestic Violence.

https://prism.ucalgary.ca/bitstream/handle/1880/51917/ R12\_Shift\_2013\_Promising\_Approaches\_to\_Engage\_Men\_ and\_Boys.pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y Westmarland, N. (2011). Co-ordinating responses to domestic violence. In *Handbook on Sexual Violence* (pp. 287–307). Taylor and Francis.

Westmarland, N., Hester, M., & Reid, P. (2004). *Routine Enquiry about Domestic Violence in General Practices: a Pilot Project*. University of Bristol.

Westmarland, N., & Kelly, L. (2013). Why Extending Measurements of 'Success' in Domestic Violence Perpetrator Programmes Matters for Social Work. *The British Journal of Social Work*, 43(6), 1092–1110. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcs049

Westmarland, N., & Kelly, L. (2015). Domestic Violence Perpetrator Programmes: Steps towards change. Project Mirabal Final Report. London Metropolitan University. http://repository.londonmet.ac.uk/1458/

Westmarland, N., Kelly, L., & Chalder-Mills, J. (2010). Domestic violence perpetrator programmes : what counts as success ? In *Project Mirabal Briefing Note 1*. https://projectmirabal.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/whatcountsassuccessbriefingnote.pdf

Westwood, T., Wendt, S., & Seymour, K. (2020). Women's Perceptions of Safety After Domestic Violence: Exploring Experiences of a Safety Contact Program. *Affilia - Journal of Women and Social Work*, *35*(2), 260–273.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109919873904

White, J. W., & Sienkiewicz, H. C. (2018). Victim Empowerment, Safety, and Perpetrator Accountability Through Collaboration: A Crisis to Transformation Conceptual Model. *Violence Against Women*, 24(14), 1678–1696.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801217743341

Whiting, N., Madill, S., & McMillan, S. (2020). Domestic abuse and child welfare: a practice guide for social workers. SASW.

https://www.basw.co.uk/resources/domestic-abuseand-child-welfare-practice-guide-social-workers-0

WHO. (2019). *Violence against women*. World Health Organisation.

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/329889/WHO-RHR-19.16-eng.pdf?ua=1

Wild, J. L. (2020). Domestic violence & abuse: prevention, intervention and the politics of gender (Issue July). University of Leeds. https://etheses.whiterose.ac.uk/28214/ Williamson, E. (2010). Living in the World of the Domestic Violence Perpetrator: Negotiating the Unreality of Coercive Control. *Violence Against Women*, *16*(12), 1412–1423.

# https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801210389162

Williamson, E., Jones, S. K., Ferrari, G., Debbonaire, T., Feder, G., & Hester, M. (2015). Health professionals responding to men for safety (HERMES): feasibility of a general practice training intervention to improve the response to male patients who have experienced or perpetrated domestic violence and abuse. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, *16*(3), 281–288. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423614000358

Wojnicka, K. (2015). Work with Perpetrators of Domestic Violence in Eastern European and Baltic Countries. *Gender a výzkum / Gender and Research*, *16*(1), 35-45.

https://doi.org/10.13060/12130028.2015.16.1.165

Women's Aid. (2017). *Change that Lasts Impact Briefing*. www.womensaid.org.uk/change.

Wong, J. S., & Bouchard, J. (2020). Reducing intimate partner violence: a pilot evaluation of an intervention program. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, *59*(6), 354–374.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10509674.2020.1767259

Woolford, R., & Wardhaugh, J. (2019). Help: A practitioners' perspective on programmes for domestic abuse perpetrators. a qualitative study. *British Journal of Community Justice*, *15*(2), 82–105.

Zanoni, L., Warburton, W., Bussey, K., & McMaugh, A. (2013). Fathers as 'core business' in child welfare practice and research: An interdisciplinary review. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *35*(7), 1055–1070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.04.018

Zarling, A., Bannon, S., & Berta, M. (2019). Evaluation of acceptance and commitment therapy for domestic violence offenders. *Psychology of Violence*, *9*(3), 257–266. https://doi.org/10.1037/vio000097

52 Working with people who perpetrate domestic violence and abuse in families - Summary report

# research in practice

Research in Practice The Granary Dartington Hall Totnes Devon TQ9 6EE

tel 01803 867692 email ask@researchinpractice.org.uk Author: Dr Jessica Wild

Research in Practice is a programme of The Dartington Hall Trust which is a company limited by guarantee and a registered charity. Company No. 1485560 Charity No. 279756 VAT No. 402196875

Registered Office: The Elmhirst Centre, Dartington Hall, Totnes TQ9 6EL

© Research in Practice September 2021